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CHARACTERISTICS OF THE GROWTH ENTERPRISE MARKET (“GEM”) OF THE STOCK EXCHANGE 
OF HONG KONG LIMITED (THE “STOCK EXCHANGE”)

GEM has been positioned as a market designed to accommodate companies to which a higher investment risk 

may be attached than other companies listed on the Stock Exchange. Prospective investors should be aware 

of the potential risks of investing in such companies and should make the decision to invest only after due and 

careful consideration. The greater risk profile and other characteristics of GEM mean that it is a market more 

suited to professional and other sophisticated investors.

Given the emerging nature of companies listed on GEM, there is a risk that securities traded on GEM may be 

more susceptible to high market volatility than securities traded on the Main Board and no assurance is given 

that there will be a liquid market in the securities traded on GEM.

Hong Kong Exchanges and Clearing Limited and the Stock Exchange take no responsibility for the contents of this 

report, make no representation as to its accuracy or completeness and expressly disclaim any liability whatsoever for 

any loss howsoever arising from or in reliance upon the whole or any part of the contents of this report.

This report, for which the directors (the “Director(s)”) of Directel Holdings Limited (the “Company”) collectively and 

individually accept full responsibility, includes particulars given in compliance with the Rules Governing the Listing of 

Securities on GEM of the Stock Exchange (“GEM Listing Rules”) for the purpose of giving information with regard to 

the Company. The Directors, having made all reasonable enquiries, confirm that, to the best of their knowledge and 

belief: (1) the information contained in this report is accurate and complete in all material respects and not misleading 

or deceptive; and (2) there are no other matters the omission of which would make any statement herein or this 

report misleading.
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CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT

On behalf of the Board of Directors (the “Board”) of Directel Holdings Limited (the “Company”), I am pleased to 

present the annual results of the Company and its subsidiaries (collectively referred to as the “Group”) for the year 

ended 31 December 2013 to all the shareholders.

RESULTS OF THE YEAR

For the year ended 31 December 2013, the Group recorded turnover of approximately HK$50,882,000, representing 

a decrease of approximately 29.1% as compared with last year. Profit for the year attributable to equity shareholders 

of the Company in 2013 amounted to approximately HK$10,081,000, representing a 54.4% decrease from the year 

of 2012. Basic and diluted earnings per ordinary share fell 52.4% to HK1.0 cent for 2013 as compared with HK2.1 

cents for 2012.

REVIEW FOR THE YEAR

The performance of the Group was weakened for the year ended 31 December 2013 compared to 2012. The 

monthly average number of activated phone numbers decreased by approximately 19.5% to 190,833 in the year of 

2013 when compared to 2012. The volume of the Group’s airtime sold decreased from approximately 242.4 million 

minutes for the year of 2012 to approximately 191.3 million minutes for the year of 2013.

FUTURE PROSPECTS

Owing to the intensified competition in the mobile services industry particularly in the data access services and 

mobile communications applications, the Group is cautious and will respond proactively to the pressure and 

challenges of this ever-changing market. The Group will continuously expand the geographical coverage of mobile 

phone services through development and expansion in Asia Pacific. Also the Group will provide a wider variety of 

value-added services for its users to increase turnover by promoting and encouraging the Group’s users to utilise 

and enjoy 3G mobile data services in Hong Kong and the PRC, and introducing RF-SIM in Hong Kong and Macau to 

broaden the customer base of the Group. I believe these plans, especially the introduction of RF-SIM, will enhance 

the Group’s overall competitiveness, differentiate the Group from other competitors and assist the Group in capturing 

a larger share of the market.

On behalf of the Board, I wish to express my sincere gratitude to our shareholders, customers, suppliers and other 

business partners of the Company for their continued and substantial support; and also to every Director, the 

management team and all staff for their valuable contribution and effort during the year.

Li Kin Shing

Chairman

Hong Kong, 27 March 2014
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BUSINESS REVIEW

The Group is a mobile virtual network operator (“MVNO”) which is principally engaged in the provision of mobile 

phone services. The Group does not have its own telecommunications network infrastructure and its business mainly 

involves the trading of the airtime sourced from two mobile network operators (“MNOs”) in Hong Kong and one MNO 

in the People’s Republic of China (the “PRC”), and subsequently sold the airtime through different channels and in 

various forms to users, dealers or MNOs. The Group’s mobile phone services include “One Card Multiple Number” 

service and Hong Kong local mobile phone services. The Group also provides services of resale of airtime to MNOs, 

telesales dealership services and other services.

The performance of the Group was weakened for the year ended 31 December 2013 compared to 2012. The 

monthly average number of activated phone numbers decreased by approximately 19.5% to 190,833 in the year of 

2013 when compared to 2012 and the total number of activated phone numbers decreased by approximately 47.0% 

to 125,273 as of 31 December 2013 compared to 236,550 as of 31 December 2012.

The Group continued to face difficulties in the highly competitive mobile services industry particularly in the data 

access services and mobile communications applications. The increased popularity of smart phone devices also 

led to a rapid growth of alternative means of communications (e.g. social networking applications) which had 

reduced the usage for traditional voice and short message services. The average revenue per user (“ARPU”) of the 

Group showed a decreasing trend and the ARPU of the Group was approximately HK$21.6 for the year ended 31 

December 2013, lower than approximately HK$24.5 for the last year.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

The volume of the Group’s airtime sold decreased from approximately 242.4 million minutes for the year of 2012 to 

approximately 191.3 million minutes for the year of 2013; and the revenue derived from the provision of “One Card 

Multiple Number” service, Hong Kong local mobile phone services and resale of airtime to MNOs decreased from 

approximately HK$71.1 million to approximately HK$50.3 million during the same period. The Group’s revenue per 

minute of airtime sold decreased from approximately HK$0.29 for the year of 2012 to approximately HK$0.26 for the 

year of 2013.

FINANCIAL REVIEW

Turnover

For the year ended 31 December 2013, the turnover of the Group decreased to approximately HK$50,882,000 

compared to approximately HK$71,780,000 for the last year, represented a decrease of approximately 29.1%. The 

decrease in turnover was mainly attributable to the decrease in the monthly average number of activated phone 

numbers and decrease of airtime usage by users.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Cost of Sales

The Group’s cost of sales decreased by approximately 15.2% to approximately HK$25,106,000 for the year ended 

31 December 2013 compared to approximately HK$29,604,000 for the last year. The cost of sales in respect of the 

provision of mobile phone services and resale of airtime to MNOs decreased by approximately 14.6% compared to 

last year. Such decrease was mainly due to the decrease of airtime usage by users. The cost of sales in respect of 

the provision of telesales dealership services decreased by approximately 36.3% compared to last year, which was 

in line with the decrease in the revenue derived from the provision of telesales dealership services.

Gross Profit

The gross profit of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2013 decreased to approximately HK$25,776,000 

compared to approximately HK$42,176,000 for the last year and the gross profit margin decreased to 50.7% for 

the year ended 31 December 2013 from 58.8% for the last year. The decline in gross profit and gross profit margin 

was mainly attributable to the decrease of airtime usage by users and the increased unit charge for IDD services by 

telecommunications services providers.

Administrative Expenses

The Group’s administrative expenses for the year ended 31 December 2013 decreased by approximately 8.1% 

to approximately HK$14,489,000 compared to approximately HK$15,760,000 for the last year. The decrease was 

mainly attributable to the fee incurred for the application of transfer of listing to Main Board of the Stock Exchange for 

the year ended 31 December 2012, while no such expenses were incurred for the year ended 31 December 2013.

Finance Income

The Group’s finance income for the year ended 31 December 2013 increased by approximately 254.3% to 

approximately HK$985,000 when compared to approximately HK$278,000 for the last year. The finance income 

incurred was mainly due to the increase in interest income and foreign exchange gain arising from the movements in 

the exchange rate between Hong Kong dollars and Renminbi during the year.

Income Tax

The Group’s income tax expenses for the year ended 31 December 2013 decreased by approximately 51.5% to 

approximately HK$2,234,000 compared to approximately HK$4,608,000 for the last year. The decrease was mainly 

attributed to the decrease of operating profit.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Profit Attributable to Shareholders

The Group’s profit attributable to equity shareholders of the Company for the year ended 31 December 2013 

decreased by approximately 54.4% to approximately HK$10,081,000 compared to approximately HK$22,130,000 for 

the last year. The decrease was mainly due to the decrease in gross profit and operating profit.

BUSINESS OUTLOOK

Owing to the intensified competition in the mobile services industry particularly in the data access services and 

mobile communications applications, the Group is cautious and will respond proactively to the pressure and 

challenges of this ever-changing market. Going forward in the year of 2014, the Group will continue to seek 

opportunities in existing business to broaden the Group’s customer base and expand the Group’s operations by 

means of strengthening relationship with existing dealers, exploring new qualifying dealers and maintaining its low 

cost strategy for its marketing activities. Also, the Group will execute its business plan continuously to expand the 

geographical coverage of mobile phone services provided by the Group through development and expansion of such 

services in Asia Pacific and the Group will provide a wider variety of value-added services for its users to increase 

turnover by (i) promoting and encouraging the Group’s users to utilise and enjoy 3G mobile data services and more 

value-added data communication services; and (ii) introducing RF-SIM in Hong Kong and Macau, to enhance the 

Group’s overall competitiveness.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

CAPITAL STRUCTURE

As at 31 December 2013, the Group had no outstanding loan or borrowing, and the gearing ratio (being ratio of 

total long term borrowings to equity) was therefore inapplicable. As at 31 December 2013, total equity attributable 

to equity holders of the Company amounted to approximately HK$162,703,000 (31 December 2012: approximately 

HK$152,622,000), which was primarily attributable to the proceeds from the Placing and earnings.

LIQUIDITY AND FINANCIAL RESOURCES

The Group normally finances its operations with internally generated cash flows and capital contribution from 

shareholders. As at 31 December 2013, the Group had net current assets of approximately HK$156,813,000 

(31 December 2012: approximately HK$145,635,000), including cash and bank balances of approximately 

HK$126,229,000 (31 December 2012: approximately HK$108,858,000). The current ratio was 22.0 as at 31 

December 2013, higher than 14.5 as at 31 December 2012.

FOREIGN EXCHANGE EXPOSURE

The Group is exposed to currency risk primarily through sales and purchases which give rise to receivables, 

payables and cash balances that are denominated in a foreign currency, i.e. a currency other than the functional 

currency of the operations to which the transactions relate. The currencies giving rise to this risk are primarily 

Renminbi (“RMB”) and United States dollars (“US$”). The Group currently does not have hedging policy in respect 

of the foreign currency risk. However, management monitors the related foreign currency risk exposure closely and 

will consider hedging significant foreign currency risk exposure should the need arise. As at 31 December 2013, the 

Group did not have any derivatives for hedging against the exchange rate risk.

PLEDGE OF ASSETS

As at 31 December 2013, the Group did not have any pledges on its assets.

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

Elitel Limited, a wholly owned subsidiary of the Company, has previously failed to register as a non-Hong Kong 

company within the prescribed time limit under Part XI of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, that is, within one 

month of establishment of the place of business in Hong Kong in November 2002. Elitel Limited has subsequently 

notified the Companies Registry regarding such matter and rectified the late registration in October 2009.

As at the date of this report, there is a possibility that the Companies Registry may still take action against Elitel 

Limited in relation to the late registration and that Elitel Limited may be subject to a penalty in this respect, though no 

action has been taken by the Companies Registry against Elitel Limited to date. During the year ended 31 December 

2013, no action has been taken against the Group by the Companies Registry in respect of this matter.

The Group did not recognise any provision in respect of the abovementioned issue as the amount of the obligation 

cannot be measured with sufficient reliability.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

SIGNIFICANT ACQUISITION, DISPOSAL OR INVESTMENT

As at 31 December 2013, the Group has no specific acquisition target. The Group did not have any material 

acquisition and disposals of subsidiaries and affiliated companies, and investment during the year under review.

STAFF AND REMUNERATION POLICY

As at 31 December 2013, the Group had 13 employees (2012: 12 employees). Breakdown of the Group’s staff by 

functions as at 31 December 2013 is as follows:

As at As at

31 December 31 December

Function 2013 2012   

Management 2 2

Financial and accounting 2 2

Sales and marketing 1 1

Information technology, repair and maintenance 3 3

Customer service 2 2

Administration and human resources 3 2
  

Total 13 12
  

The total staff remuneration including directors’ remuneration paid or payable by the Group in 2013 was 

approximately HK$3,652,000 (2012: approximately HK$3,589,000). Remuneration paid to staff, including Directors, 

is determined with reference to market terms and the performance, qualification and experience of individual 

employee. Year-end bonus based on individual performance will be paid to employees as recognition of and reward 

for their contributions. Other benefits include medical insurance, share option scheme and contributions to statutory 

mandatory provident fund scheme to its employees in Hong Kong.

DISCLOSURE UNDER CHAPTER 17 OF THE GEM LISTING RULES

The Directors confirmed that they were not aware of any circumstances which would give rise to a disclosure 

requirement under Rules 17.22 to 17.24 of the GEM Listing Rules during the year.
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT

The Directors present their annual report together with the audited financial statements of the Group for the year 

ended 31 December 2013.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The principal activity of the Company is investment holding. Its subsidiaries are principally engaged in the provision 

of mobile phone services. The Group also provides services of resale of airtime to MNOs and telesales dealership 

services. The principal activities and other particulars of its subsidiaries are set out in note 11 to the financial 

statements.

PRINCIPAL PLACE OF BUSINESS

The Company has established a principal place of business in Hong Kong at Office Nos. 1, 2, 14 and 15, 37th Floor, 

Hong Kong Plaza, No. 188 Connaught Road West.

FINANCIAL INFORMATION

Financial Summary

A summary of the consolidated statement of profit or loss and the assets and liabilities of the Group for the last five 

financial years is set out on page 84 of this report.

Results and Dividends

The results of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2013 are set out in the consolidated statement of profit or 

loss, page 38 of this report.

The Board does not recommend the payment of a final dividend for the year ended 31 December 2013 (2012: Nil).

Major Customers and Major Suppliers

For the year ended 31 December 2013, the turnover attributable to the largest customer and the five largest 

customers accounted for approximately 34.2% and approximately 69.1% of the Group’s turnover respectively.

For the year ended 31 December 2013, purchases from the largest supplier and the five largest suppliers accounted 

for approximately 28.2% and 85.3% of the Group’s total purchases respectively.

None of the Directors, or any of their respective associates, or any shareholders (whom to the knowledge of the 

Directors own more than 5% of the issued share capital of the Company), had any interests in any of the Group’s five 

largest customers or five largest suppliers during the year.

Share Capital

Details of movements in the share capital of the Company during the year are set out in note 18 to the financial 

statements.
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT

Convertible Derivatives

The Group has not granted any convertible securities, futures, options, warrants or other similar rights during the 

year ended 31 December 2013.

Reserves

Details of movements in reserves of the Company and the Group during the year are set out in note 18 to the 

financial statements and the consolidated statement of changes in equity respectively.

Distributable Reserve and Share Premium

According to the articles of association of the Company and the Companies Law, Chapter 22 (Law 3 of 1961, as 

consolidated and revised) of the Cayman Islands, after passing the review of debt paying ability of the Group, the 

share premium account can be attributed to shareholders. As at 31 December 2013, the Company had reserves 

of approximately HK$53,052,000 (As at 31 December 2012, HK$52,658,000) available for distribution to equity 

shareholders of the Company.

Property, Plant and Equipment

Details of movements in property, plant and equipment of the Group are set out in note 12 to the financial 

statements.

Continuing Connected Transactions

For the year ended 31 December 2013, approximately HK$1,537,000 under the category of the services provided by 

related parties and approximately HK$528,000 under the category of the rental of properties from related parties as 

disclosed in note 21 to the financial statements fell under the definition of continuing connected transactions under 

Chapter 20 of the GEM Listing Rules. Details are disclosed in note 21 to the financial statements.

Continuing connected transactions exempt from the reporting, annual review, announcement and independent 

shareholders’ approval requirements

A. Service agreement between China-Hongkong Telecom Limited (“China-HK Telecom”) and China Elite 

Information Technology Ltd. in respect of data processing and billing management services.

B. Licence agreement between China-HK Telecom and Directel Limited in respect of RF-SIM.

C. Tenancy agreement between the Company and Talent Information Engineering Co., Limited in respect of the 

Company’s office in Hong Kong.

D. Service agreement between China-HK Telecom and International Elite Limited – Macao Commercial Offshore 

in respect of development and maintenance of Company’s website.
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT

E. Service agreements

1. Service agreement between Elitel Limited and International Elite Limited – Macao Commercial Offshore 

(novated from its affiliated company, PacificNet Communications Limited – Macao Commercial Offshore 

(“PacificNet Communications”), on 1 October 2011) in respect of built-in secretary (“BIS”) services; and

2. Service agreement between China-HK Telecom and International Elite Limited – Macao Commercial 

Offshore (novated from its affiliated company, PacificNet Communications, on 1 October 2011) in respect 

of BIS and customer hotline services.

F. Service agreement between China-HK Telecom and International Elite Limited – Macao Commercial Offshore 

(novated from its affiliated company, PacificNet Communications, on 1 October 2011) in respect of telesales 

services.

The continuing connected transactions as referred to in paragraphs E and F fell under the category of continuing 

connected transactions exempt from the independent shareholders’ approval requirements during the three years 

ended 31 December 2012. Upon their renewal on 12 December 2012, these continuing connected transactions as 

referred to in paragraphs E and F fell under the category of de minimis transactions and are therefore exempt from 

the reporting, annual review, announcement and independent shareholders’ approval requirements.

Details of the above connected transactions are disclosed in note 21 to the financial statements and the Prospectus.

The Directors confirm that the Group has complied with the disclosure requirements in accordance with Chapter 20 

of the GEM Listing Rules.

EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

No significant event has taken place subsequent to 31 December 2013 and up to the date of this report.

THE PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There is no provision for pre-emptive rights under the Company’s articles of association or the laws of the Cayman 

Islands which would oblige the Company to issue new shares on a pro-rata basis to existing shareholders of the 

Company.

CLOSURE OF REGISTER OF MEMBERS

The register of members will be closed from 7 May 2014 to 9 May 2014, both days inclusive. In order to ascertain 

the members’ entitlement to the attendance of the forthcoming annual general meeting of the Company, all share 

transfers documents accompanied by the relevant share certificates must be lodged with the Company’s branch 

share registrar and transfer office in Hong Kong, namely Tricor Investor Services Limited at 26/F Tesbury Centre, 28 

Queen’s Road East, Wanchai, Hong Kong (to be changed to Level 22, Hopewell Centre, 183 Queen’s Road East, 

Hong Kong with effect from 31 March 2014) not later than 4:30 p.m. on 5 May 2014.
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT

DIRECTORS

The Directors who held office during the year and up to the date of this report were:

Chairman and Non-executive Directors

Li Kin Shing (李健誠)

Executive Directors

Pang Kwok Chau (彭國洲)

Li Wang (李宏)

Non-executive Directors

Wong Kin Wa (黃建華)

Independent Non-executive Directors

Chen Xue Dao (陳學道)

Chu, Howard Ho Hwa (朱賀華)

Lee Man Yee, Maggie (李敏怡)

In accordance with the Company’s articles of association, Mr. Li Wang, Mr. Chen Xue Dao and Ms. Lee Man Yee, 

Maggie shall retire by rotation at the forthcoming annual general meeting of the Company, and, being eligible, will 

offer themselves for re-election at the forthcoming annual general meeting of the Company.

Confirmation of Independence

The Company has received from each of its independent non-executive Directors an annual confirmation of his 

independence pursuant to Rule 5.09 of the GEM Listing Rules and considers that all the independent non-executive 

Directors are independent.



2013 ANNUAL REPORT 15

DIRECTORS’ REPORT

Directors’ Service Contracts

Each of the executive Directors has entered into a service agreement with the Company. The terms and conditions 

of each of such service agreements are similar in all material aspects and are briefly described as follows:

(a) Each service contract is for an initial term of three years commencing on 1 May 2010. On 30 April 2013, each 

of the executive Directors has entered into a renewal of service contract with the Company for a term of 3 years 

commencing on 1 May 2013. Each of these service contracts may be terminated by either party thereto giving 

to the other not less than three months’ prior notice in writing.

(b) The annual remuneration (including director’s fee, basic salary, allowance, non-cash benefit and retirement 

scheme contribution) payable to Mr. Pang Kwok Chau and Mr. Li Wang under their respective service 

agreements shall be approximately HK$654,000 and HK$224,000 respectively.

(c) Each of the executive Directors is entitled to a management bonus, the amount of which is determined with 

reference to the operating results of the Group and the performance of the executive Director; and

(d) Each of the executive Directors shall abstain from voting and not be counted in the quorum in respect of any 

resolution of the Board regarding the amount of annual salary and management bonus payable to himself.

Each of the non-executive Directors has entered into a service agreement with the Company. The terms and 

conditions of each of such service agreements are similar in all material aspects and are briefly described as follows:

(a) Each service contract is for an initial term of three years commencing on 1 May 2010. On 30 April 2013, each 

of the non-executive Directors has entered into a renewal of service contract with the Company for a term of 3 

years commencing on 1 May 2013. Each of these service contracts may be terminated by either party thereto 

giving to the other not less than three months’ prior notice in writing.

(b) The annual director’s fee payable to Mr. Li Kin Shing and Mr. Wong Kin Wa under their respective service 

agreement shall be HK$80,000 and HK$80,000 respectively.

(c) Each of the non-executive Directors is entitled to a management bonus, the amount of which is determined 

with reference to the operating results of the Group and the performance of the non-executive Director.

(d) Each of the non-executive Directors shall abstain from voting and not be counted in the quorum in respect of 

any resolution of the Board regarding the amount of annual salary and management bonus payable to himself.

Each of the independent non-executive Directors has entered into a service agreement with the Company under 

which each of them agreed to act as independent non-executive Director for a period of three years, commencing 

on 1 June 2010, unless terminated in accordance with the terms and conditions specified therein. On 31 May 2013, 

each of the independent non-executive Directors has entered into a renewal of service contract with the Company 

for a term of 3 years commencing on 1 June 2013. The annual director’s fee payable to Mr. Chen Xue Dao, Mr. Chu, 

Howard Ho Hwa and Ms. Lee Man Yee, Maggie under their respective service agreements shall be HK$80,000, 

HK$80,000 and HK$80,000 respectively.

None of the Directors, including those to be re-elected at the forthcoming annual general meeting, has a service 

agreement which is not determinable by the Group within one year without the payment of compensation (other than 

statutory compensation).
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT

Contract of significance

Save for the service contracts of the Directors and the contracts under the paragraph named “Continuing Connected 

Transaction” as disclosed above and note 21 to the financial statements, no contract of significance in relation to the 

Group’s business to which the Company, its subsidiaries and controlling shareholders and their controlled entities 

was a party and in which a Director had a material interest, whether directly or indirectly, subsisted at the end of the 

year under review or at any time during the year under review.

DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

The brief biographical details of Directors and senior management are set out in pages 33 to 35 of this report.

Emolument Policy

A remuneration committee is set up for reviewing the Group’s emolument policy and structure for all remuneration 

of the directors and senior management having regard to the Group’s operating results, individual performance and 

comparable market practices.

Directors’ Remunerations and Five Employees with Highest Emolument

Details of directors’ remunerations and five employees with highest emolument are set out in note 7 and note 8 to 

the financial statements.

No emoluments have been paid to the Directors as an inducement to join or upon joining the Group or as 

compensation for loss of office during the year ended 31 December 2013 (2012: Nil). No Director waived or agreed 

to waive any emoluments during the year ended 31 December 2013 (2012: Nil).

During the year ended 31 December 2013, no emoluments were paid by the Group to any of the five highest paid 

individuals as an inducement to join or upon joining the Group or as compensation for loss of office (2012: Nil).

Staff Contribution Retirement Schemes

The amounts of contributions and details of the Group’s defined contribution retirement schemes are set out in note 

5(a) to the financial statements.
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT

SHARE INTERESTS

DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVES’ INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS IN THE SHARES, 
UNDERLYING SHARES AND DEBENTURES

As at 31 December 2013, so far as it is known to the Directors, the Directors and the chief executive of the Company 

had the following interests and short positions in the shares, underlying shares or the debentures of the Company or 

any of its associated corporations within the meaning of part XV of the Securities and Futures Ordinance (the “SFO”), 

which would have to be notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the provision of Divisions 7 and 

8 of Part XV of the SFO (including interests and/or short positions of which they were taken or deemed to have under 

such provisions of the SFO) and/or required to be entered in the register required to be kept under Section 352 of 

the SFO or as otherwise notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to Rule 5.46 of the GEM Listing 

Rules:

(i) Long position in shares of the Company:

Approximate

Nature of Interest/ Number of Percentage of

Name of Director Capacity Ordinary Shares Shareholding    

Mr. Li Kin Shing Interest of controlled 696,250,000 67.11%

 corporation (Note 1)

Beneficial owner 33,750,000 3.25%

Mr. Pang Kwok Chau Beneficial owner 10,000,000 0.96%

(Note 2)

Mr. Wong Kin Wa Beneficial owner 10,000,000 0.96%

(Note 2)

Notes:

(1) The 696,250,000 shares are owned by New Everich Holdings Limited (“New Everich”) which is owned by Mr. Li Kin Shing and 

Ms. Kwok King Wa as to 54% and 46% respectively. Mr. Li Kin Shing is the spouse of Ms. Kwok King Wa. Accordingly, Mr. Li 

Kin Shing is deemed to be interested in the 696,250,000 shares under the SFO.

(2) Mr. Pang Kwok Chau and Mr. Wong Kin Wa acquired 10,000,000 shares on 28 March 2012, respectively.

(ii) Long position in New Everich, an associated corporation of the Company:

Approximate Percentage

Name of Director Nature of Interest/Capacity of Shareholding   

Mr. Li Kin Shing Beneficial owner 100.00%

Note: New Everich is owned as to 54% and 46% by Mr. Li Kin Shing and Ms. Kwok King Wa respectively. Mr. Li Kin Shing is the 

spouse of Ms. Kwok King Wa. Accordingly, Mr. Li Kin Shing is deemed to be interested in the 100% interests in New Everich 

under the SFO.
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Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2013, none of the Directors nor the chief executives of the Company 

had any interests or short positions in any shares, underlying shares and/or debentures of the Company or any of 

its associated corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO) which were notified to the Company and the 

Stock Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO (including interest and/or short positions which 

were taken or deemed to have under such provisions of the SFO), or which were recorded in the register maintained 

by the Company pursuant to Section 352 of the SFO, or which would have to be notified to the Company and the 

Stock Exchange pursuant to Rule 5.46 of the GEM Listing Rules.

SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS’ AND OTHER PERSONS’ INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS IN 
SHARES AND UNDERLYING SHARES OF THE COMPANY

As at 31 December 2013, so far as it is known to the Directors, the persons (other than the Directors or chief 

executive of the Company) with interests or short positions in the shares or underlying shares of the Company which 

would fall to be disclosed to the Company under the provisions of Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO or which 

would be recorded in the register of the Company required to be kept under section 336 of the SFO or who are 

directly or indirectly interested in 10% or more of the nominal value of any class of share capital carrying rights to 

vote in all circumstances at general meetings of any member of the Group were as follows:

Long position in shares of the Company:

Approximate

Nature of Interest/ Number of Percentage of

Name Capacity Ordinary Shares Shareholding    

New Everich Beneficial owner 696,250,000 67.11%

Ms. Kwok King Wa Interest of controlled 696,250,000 67.11%

 corporation (Note 1)

Interest of spouse 33,750,000 3.25%

(Note 2)

Notes:

(1) The 696,250,000 shares are owned by New Everich which is owned by Mr. Li Kin Shing and Ms. Kwok King Wa as to 54% and 46% 

respectively. Mr. Li Kin Shing is the spouse of Ms. Kwok King Wa. Accordingly, Ms. Kwok King Wa is deemed to be interested in the 

696,250,000 shares under the SFO.

(2) Mr. Li Kin Shing acquired 33,750,000 shares on 19 May 2011. Mr. Li Kin Shing is the spouse of Ms. Kwok King Wa. Accordingly, Ms. 

Kwok King Wa is deemed to be interested in the 33,750,000 shares under the SFO.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2013, so far as it is known to the Directors, there was no other 

person (other than the Directors or chief executive of the Company) with interests or short positions in the shares or 

underlying shares of the Company which would fall to be disclosed to the Company under the provisions of Divisions 

2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO or which would be recorded in the register of the Company required to be kept under 

section 336 of the SFO or who are directly or indirectly interested in 10% or more of the nominal value of any class of 

share capital carrying rights to vote in all circumstances at general meetings of any member of the Group.
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COMPETING INTERESTS

During the year ended 31 December 2013, save as disclosed below, none of the Directors or controlling shareholders 

of the Company nor their respective associates is considered to have interests in a business that competes or is 

likely to compete, either directly or indirectly, with the businesses of the Group other than those businesses where 

the Directors have been appointed or were appointed as directors to represent the interests of the Company and/or 

the Group.

Directel Limited, a company incorporated in the Cayman Islands, is held as to 50% and 50% by Mr. Li Kin Shing, a 

non- executive Director, the chairman of the Company, a controlling shareholder and a substantial shareholder of the 

Company, and Ms. Kwok King Wa, a controlling shareholder and a substantial shareholder of the Company and the 

spouse of Mr. Li Kin Shing, respectively. According to the GEM Listing Rules, Directel Limited is an associate of Mr. 

Li Kin Shing and Ms. Kwok King Wa and thus a connected person.

Directel Limited is the legal and beneficial owner of the RF-SIM intellectual property rights in Hong Kong and Macau. 

Further, Directel Limited is the licensee of the operation rights of RF-SIM in markets other than the PRC in addition 

to its owned RF-SIM intellectual property rights in Hong Kong and Macau and it has the right to grant licences of the 

operation rights of RF-SIM intellectual property rights to others in markets other than the PRC. There is a risk that 

such services provided by Directel Limited may compete with the services provided by the Group as Directel Limited 

is expected to grant licences of the operation rights of RF-SIM intellectual property rights in other regions in the 

future.

International Elite Ltd. (“IEL”) is a company incorporated in the Cayman Islands and a listed company on the Main 

Board of the Stock Exchange with Mr. Li Kin Shing and Ms. Kwok King Wa as controlling shareholders. According 

to the GEM Listing Rules, IEL is an associate of Mr. Li Kin Shing and Ms. Kwok King Wa and thus a connected 

person. Sunward Telecom Limited (“Sunward Telecom”) and its wholly-owned subsidiaries (collectively, the “Sunward 

Group”) are wholly-owned subsidiaries of IEL. The Sunward Group, as a whole, is principally engaged in (i) the 

research and development, production and sales of RF-SIM products; and (ii) licensing of the RF-SIM operations 

rights in markets other than Hong Kong and Macau.

The Directors confirm that as China-Hongkong Telecom Limited, a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company, 

has obtained the exclusive licence of the operation rights of RF-SIM intellectual property rights in Hong Kong and 

Macau and since the services provided by the Group are mainly in Hong Kong and Macau, there will be no direct 

competition between the services provided by Directel Limited, which are in territories other than the PRC, Hong 

Kong and Macau. There will also be no direct competition between the services provided by IEL, which its strategy 

is to concentrate on the application of the RF-SIM intellectual property rights in the PRC. Nevertheless, Mr. Li Kin 

Shing, Ms. Kwok King Wa and Directel Limited (as Covenantors) executed a deed of non-competition undertaking 

in favour of the Company on 24 May 2010 pursuant to which the Covenantors have undertaken to the Company 

inter alia, that (i) the Covenantors shall not, directly or indirectly, engage in, invest in, participate in, or attempt to 

participate in, whether on his/her/its own account or with each other or in conjunction with or on behalf of any person 

or company, any business which will or may compete with the RF-SIM business of the Group in Hong Kong and 

Macau; and (ii) in the event the Covenantors or their associates were given any business opportunities that is or may 

involve in direct or indirect competition with the business of the Group, the Covenantors shall assist the Company in 

obtaining such business opportunities in the terms being offered to the Covenantors, or more favourable terms being 

acceptable to the Company.
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SHARE OPTION SCHEME

The Company has conditionally adopted the share option scheme in the written resolutions of the shareholders of 

the Company passed on 20 May 2010 (the “Share Option Scheme”).

The Share Option Scheme became unconditional after the listing of the Company’s shares on GEM on 2 June 2010. 

The Company did not grant or cancel any options under the Share Option Scheme any time during the year, and as 

at 31 December 2013, there was no outstanding share option under the Share Option Scheme.

DIRECTORS’ RIGHT TO ACQUIRE SHARES OR DEBENTURES

Save as disclosed in this report, during the year ended 31 December 2013, there was no rights to acquire benefits by 

means of the acquisition of shares in or debentures of the Company or of any other body corporate granted to any 

Directors or their respective spouse or children under 18 years of age, or were any such rights exercised by them; or 

was the Company, its holding company or any of its subsidiaries a party to any arrangements to enable the Directors, 

their respective spouse or children under 18 years of age to acquire such rights in the Company or any other body 

corporate.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF THE COMPANY’S SHARES

During the year ended 31 December 2013, neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries has purchased, sold or 

redeemed any share of the Company.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

The corporate governance report adopted by the Company is set out in pages 21 to 32 of this report.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on information that is publicly available to the Company and within the knowledge of the Directors, at least 

25% of the Company’s total issued share capital was held by the public throughout the year ended 31 December 

2013 and as at the date of this report.

AUDITORS

KPMG will retire and being eligible, offer themselves for re-appointment as auditors of the Company at the 

forthcoming annual general meeting of the Company. A resolution for the re-appointment of KPMG as auditors of the 

Company is to be proposed at the said meeting.

On behalf of the Board

Li Kin Shing

Chairman

Hong Kong, 27 March 2014
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

The Company has committed to maintaining high standards of corporate governance to protect the interests of 

the shareholders of the Company. During the year ended 31 December 2013, the Company has complied with the 

code provisions as set out in the Corporate Governance Code and Corporate Governance Report (the “CG Code”) 

contained in Appendix 15 to the GEM Listing Rules except for the deviations from code provisions A.6.7 and E.1.2 

which are explained as follows:

In accordance with provision A.6.7 of the CG Code, all independent non-executive Directors and non-executive 

Directors should attend general meetings and develop a balanced understanding of the views of shareholders. Due 

to conflicting business schedule, Mr. Chen Xue Dao and Mr. Chu, Howard Ho Hwa, the independent non-executive 

Directors, were unable to attend the annual general meeting of the Company held on 10 May 2013.

In accordance with provision E.1.2 of the CG Code, the Chairman of the Board as well as chairman of the Audit 

Committee, Remuneration Committee and Nomination Committee, or in their absence, other members of the 

respective committees, and where applicable, the independent Board committee, should be available to answer 

questions at the shareholder’s meetings. However, the Chairman of the Board was unable to attend the Company’s 

2012 annual general meeting as he had an important business engagement. Despite his absence, he had arranged 

for the Chief Executive Officer taking the chair of the meeting and answering shareholders’ questions. No questions 

were raised by the shareholders at the meeting.

MODEL CODE FOR DIRECTORS’ SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS

The Company has adopted the required standard of dealings as set out in Rules 5.48 to 5.67 of the GEM Listing 

Rules as the code of conduct regarding securities transactions by directors in securities of the Company. Having 

made specific enquiry of all Directors, the Directors have confirmed that they have complied with the required 

standard of dealings as set out in the adopted code of conduct regarding securities transactions by directors.

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

The Company is governed by the Board, which is responsible for overseeing the overall strategy and development of 

the Company, as well as monitoring the internal control policies, succession planning, risk management, significant 

acquisitions, evaluating the financial performance of the Group and other significant operational and financial 

issues. The Board sets the overall strategies and directions for the Group with a view to developing its business 

and enhancing the shareholders value. The Board delegates to the Company’s management the following duties: 

preparation of financial statements for the Board’s review before their publication, formulation of business execution 

strategy, definition and enforcement of company policies, implementation of adequate internal control systems, and 

compliance with the relevant laws and regulations.
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The Board currently comprises two executive Directors, two non-executive Directors and three independent non-

executive Directors (“INEDs“). The composition of the Board is set out as follows:

Executive Directors

Mr. Pang Kwok Chau (彭國洲) (Chief Executive Officer)

Mr. Li Wang (李宏)

Non-executive Directors

Mr. Li Kin Shing (李健誠) (Chairman)

Mr. Wong Kin Wa (黃建華)

Independent Non-executive Directors

Mr. Chen Xue Dao (陳學道)

Mr. Chu, Howard Ho Hwa (朱賀華)

Ms. Lee Man Yee, Maggie (李敏怡)

The term of appointment of the Directors are set out in page 15 of this report and the biographical details of the 

Directors are set out in pages 33 to 34 of this report.

Save that Mr. Li Kin Shing, the chairman and a non-executive Director is the brother of Mr. Li Wang, there are no 

relationships (including financial, business, family or other material or relevant relationships) among other members 

of the Board.

In compliance with Rules 5.05(1) and (2) of the GEM Listing Rules, the Company has appointed sufficient number 

of INEDs with at least one of them having appropriate professional qualifications or accounting or related financial 

management expertise. The INEDs, together with the executive Director, ensure that the Board prepares its financial 

and other mandatory reports in strict compliance with the relevant standards and that appropriate systems are in 

place to protect the interest of the Company and its shareholders. The Company has received an annual confirmation 

of independence from each of the INEDs and considers that their independence is in compliance the GEM Listing 

Rules as at the date of this report.

The term of appointment of each non-executive director and independent non-executive director is for a period 

of three years, subject to retirement by rotation and re-election at the annual general meeting of the Company in 

accordance with the articles of association of the Company.

In accordance with the articles of association of the Company, at each AGM one third of the Directors for the time 

being shall retire from office by rotation provided that every Director shall be subject to retirement by rotation at least 

once every three years. Such retiring Directors may, being eligible, offer themselves for re-election at the AGM. 

All Directors appointed by the Board to fill a casual vacancy shall hold office only until the first general meeting of 

shareholders after their appointment and be subject to re-election at such meeting and all Directors appointed by 

the Board as an addition to the existing Board shall hold office only until the next following AGM and shall then be 

eligible for re-election.

None of the Directors, including those to be re-elected at the forthcoming annual general meeting, has a service 

agreement which is not determinable by the Group within one year without the payment of compensation (other than 

statutory compensation).
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Board meetings

The Board regularly meets in person or through other electronic means of communication at least four times every 

year to determine overall strategic direction and objectives and approve quarterly, interim and annual results, 

and other significant matters. Notice of regular Board meeting are duly given to all Directors, who are all given 

an opportunity to attend and include matters in the agenda for discussion. Apart from regular meetings, senior 

management from time to time provides Directors information on activities and development of the businesses of the 

Group. The company secretary records the proceedings of each Board meeting by keeping minutes, including the 

record of all decisions by the Board together with concerns raised and dissenting views expressed (if any). Draft of 

Board minutes are circulated to all Directors for comment and approval as soon as practicable after the meeting. All 

minutes are open for inspection at any reasonable time on request by any Director.

During the year ended 31 December 2013, the Board held five meetings. The attendances of individual at these 

Board meetings were as follows:

Name of Directors

Number of

Meetings Attended  

Mr. Li Kin Shing (李健誠) (Chairman and Non-Executive Director) 5/5

Mr. Pang Kwok Chau (彭國洲) (Executive Director and Chief Executive Officer) 5/5

Mr. Li Wang (李宏) (Executive Director) 5/5

Mr. Wong Kin Wa (黃建華) (Non-Executive Director) 5/5

Mr. Chu, Howard Ho Hwa (朱賀華) (Independent Non-Executive Director) 5/5

Mr. Chen Xue Dao (陳學道) (Independent Non-Executive Director) 5/5

Ms. Lee Man Yee, Maggie (李敏怡) (Independent Non-Executive Director) 5/5

Each Director ensures that he/she can give sufficient time, commitments and attention to the affairs of the Company 

for the year.

The list of Directors and their role and function are published on the websites of The Stock Exchange and the 

Company.

Pursuant to the code provision A.1.8 of the CG Code, appropriate insurance cover for the Directors’ and officers’ 

liabilities in respect of legal actions against the Directors and officers of the Company arising out of corporate 

activities of the Group has been arranged by the Company.
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DIRECTORS’ TRAINING

As part of an ongoing process of directors’ training, the Directors are updated with latest developments regarding the 

Listing Rules and other applicable regulatory requirements from time to time to ensure compliance of the same by 

all Directors. All Directors are encouraged to attend external forum or training courses on relevant topics which may 

count towards continuous professional development training. Continuing briefings and professional development to 

Directors will be arranged whenever necessary.

Pursuant to the code provision A.6.5 of the CG Code, all directors should participate in continuous professional 

development to develop and refresh their knowledge and skills. This is to ensure that their contribution to the board 

remains informed and relevant. During the year and up to the date of this report, all Directors have participated in 

appropriate continuous professional development activities either by attending training courses or self-reading which 

are relevant to the Company’s business or to the Directors’ duties and responsibilities. The participation by individual 

directors during the year ended 31 December 2013 is recorded in the table below.

Name of Directors Attending (Note)

Executive Directors

Mr. Pang Kwok Chau (彭國洲) √

Mr. Li Wang (李宏) √

Non-executive Directors

Mr. Li Kin Shing (李健誠) √

Mr. Wong Kin Wa (黃建華) √

Independent Non-executive Directors

Mr. Chu, Howard Ho Hwa (朱賀華) √

Mr. Chen Xue Dao (陳學道) √

Ms. Lee Man Yee, Maggie (李敏怡) √

Note:

• seminar(s)/course(s)/conference(s)/forum(s) relevant to the business or directors’ duties and responsibilities

• reading newspaper, journals, regulatory updates and relevant materials

CHAIRMAN AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER

Pursuant to the code provision A.2.1 of the CG Code, the roles of the Chairman and Chief Executive Officer are 

segregated and are held by Mr. Li Kin Shing and Mr. Pang Kwok Chau respectively to ensure their respective 

independence, accountability and responsibility. The Chairman is responsible for the Group’s strategic planning 

and the management of the operations of the Board, while the Chief Executive Officer takes the lead in the Group’s 

operations and business development. There is a clear division of responsibilities between the Chairman and Chief 

Executive Officer which provides a balance of power and authority.
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NON-COMPETITION UNDERTAKING

Each of the controlling shareholders and Directel Limited (collectively, the “Covenantors” and each a “Covenantor”) 

entered into a deed of non-competition undertaking with the Company on 24 May 2010 pursuant to which each of 

the Covenantors has, jointly and severally, among other things, irrevocably and unconditionally undertaken with the 

Company that at any time during the Relevant Period (as defined below), each of the Covenantors shall:

(i) not, directly or indirectly, engage in, invest in, participate in, or attempt to participate in, whether on his/her/

its own account or with each other or in conjunction with or on behalf of any person or company, any business 

which will or may compete with the business then engaged and from time to time engaged by the Group in 

any territory, saved and except for the RF-SIM business in any territories outside Hong Kong and Macau (the 

“Restricted Business”);

(ii) take all possible actions (including any acts and omissions) to procure that his/her/its associates (other than 

members of the Group) not, directly or indirectly, engage in, invest in, participate in, or attempt to participate 

in, whether on his/her/its own account or with each other or in conjunction with or on behalf of any person or 

company, the Restricted Business;

(iii) not, directly or indirectly, engage in, invest in, participate in, or attempt to participate in, whether on his/her/

its own account or with each other or in conjunction with or on behalf of any person or company, any business 

which will or may compete with the RF-SIM business of the Group in Hong Kong and Macau;

(iv) take all possible actions (including any acts and omissions) to procure that his/her/its associates (other 

than members of the Group) shall not, directly or indirectly, engage in, invest in, participate in, or attempt to 

participate in, whether on its own account or with each other or in conjunction with or on behalf of any person 

or company, any business which will or may compete with the RF-SIM business of the Group in Hong Kong 

and Macau; and

(v) not, and procure that his/her/its associates (other than members of the Group) not, for the purpose of 

competing with the business then engaged and from time to time engaged by the Group, to solicit or endeavor 

to cause any employee, former employee, or then existing employee of the Company and the members of 

the Group to work for the Covenantors or his/her/its associates (other than members of the Group); and shall 

not, without the Company’s consent, make use of any information pertaining to the business of the Group 

which may have come to his/her/its knowledge in his/her/its capacity, as the case may be, as the controlling 

shareholders or his/her/its associates.

The above restrictions do not apply in the following cases:

(i) each of the Covenantors and his/her/its associates (excluding members of the Group) may hold securities of 

any company which conducts or is engaged in any Restricted Business provided that (a) such securities are 

listed on a recognised stock exchange (as defined in the SFO); and (b) the aggregate number of securities held 

by the Covenantors and their respective associates (excluding members of the Group) do not exceed 5% of the 

issued shares of such company;

(ii) each of the Covenantors and his/her/its associates (excluding members of the Group) may invest in the Group; 

and

(iii) the interests of Mr. Li Kin Shing and Ms. Kwok King Wa, jointly and/or severally, in Directel Limited. The 

Company agreed that each of Mr. Li Kin Shing and Ms. Kwok King Wa may continue to hold such interests in 

Directel Limited.
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Under the deed of non-competition undertaking, the Covenantors further undertake to the Company the following:

(i) the Covenantors shall allow, and shall procure that the relevant associates (excluding members of the 

Group) to allow, the Directors and the Company’s auditors to have access to such financial records of such 

Covenantors and/or their respective associates as may be necessary for the Company to determine whether 

the terms of the deed of non-competition have been complied with;

(ii) the Covenantors shall allow, and shall procure that their associates (excluding members of the Group) to allow, 

the independent non-executive Directors to review, at least on an annual basis, the Covenantors’ compliance 

with the deed of non-competition undertaking and the warrant, preferred warrant or right of first refusal set up 

by the Covenantors in current or future competitive business activities;

(iii) the Covenantors shall provide all information necessary for the annual review by the independent non-

executive Directors in making a fair and reasonable assessment of the Covenantors’ compliance with the deed 

of non- competition undertaking including but not limited to, (i) a list of listed companies in which he/she/it and/

or his/her/its associates are beneficially interested or legally holds 5% or more shareholding interest and the 

nature of business of each of such companies; and (ii) a list of private companies in which he/she/it and/or his/

her/its associates beneficially and/or legally holds and the nature of business of each of such companies;

(iv) without prejudicing the generality of paragraph (i) above, the Covenantors shall provide to the Company with 

a declaration annually for inclusion by the Company in its annual report, in respect of their compliance with the 

terms of the deed of non-competition undertaking and disclose such information in the corporate governance 

report under the annual report of the Company (any such disclosure would be consistent with the principles of 

making voluntary disclosures in the corporate governance report);

(v) the Company shall disclose decisions on matters reviewed by the independent non-executive Directors relating 

to the compliance and enforcement of the deed of non-competition undertaking either through the annual 

report, or by way of announcements to the public;

(vi) in the event the Covenantors or their associates (excluding members of the Group) were given any business 

opportunity that is or may involve in direct or indirect competition with the business of the Group, the 

Covenantors shall assist, and shall procure their relevant associates to assist, the Company in obtaining such 

business opportunity directly or in the event that such business opportunity relates to the provision of any 

service(s) which is/are supplementary to the core business of such Covenantors or the relevant associates, by 

ways of subcontracting or outsourcing in the terms being offered to the Covenantors or the relevant associates, 

or more favourable terms being acceptable to the Company if the Covenantors give up the business 

opportunity, it is deemed to give up such business opportunity and the Covenantors cannot involve in the 

business derived from such business activities; and

(vii) each of the Covenantors agrees to indemnify the Company from and against any and all losses, damages 

and costs which loss, damage or cost is resulted from any failure to comply with the terms of the deed of non-

competition by the Covenantors or any of their respective associates.

For the above purpose, the “Relevant Period” means the period commencing from the date of the deed of non- 

competition undertaking and shall expire on the earlier of (i) the date on which the Covenantors (together with their 

respective associates), whether directly or indirectly, cease to be interested in 10% or more of the issued share 

capital of the Company; and (ii) the date on which the Shares cease to be listed on the Stock Exchange.

The independent non-executive Directors will review, at least on an annual basis, the compliance with the deed of 

non-competition undertaking by the Covenantors.
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BOARD COMMITTEES

The Company has established three Board committees (the “Board Committees”), namely the Audit Committee, 

the Nomination Committee and the Remuneration Committee to assist the Board in discharging its duties and 

responsibilities. The Board Committees are provided with sufficient resources to discharge their duties and are able 

to obtain outside independent professional advice in connection with their duties at the Company’s expenses.

AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Company has established an audit committee (“Audit Committee”) on 20 May 2010 with written terms of 

reference in compliance with the GEM Listing Rules. The Audit Committee consists of the three independent non-

executive Directors, namely, Ms. Lee Man Yee, Maggie, Mr. Chen Xue Dao and Mr. Chu, Howard Ho Hwa. Ms. Lee 

Man Yee, Maggie is the chairman of the Audit Committee.

During the year under review, the audit committee held four meetings. The attendance record of the meetings is as 

follows:

Name of Directors

Number of

Meetings Attended  

Ms. Lee Man Yee, Maggie (李敏怡) (Independent Non-Executive Director) 4/4

Mr. Chu, Howard Ho Hwa ( 朱賀華) (Independent Non-Executive Director) 4/4

Mr. Chen Xue Dao (陳學道) (Independent Non-Executive Director) 4/4

The primary duties of the Audit Committee are to review the Company’s annual report and consolidated financial 

statements, half-yearly report and quarterly reports and to provide advice and comment thereon to the Board. The 

Audit Committee is also responsible for reviewing and supervising the financial reporting process and internal control 

of the Group.

During the year of 2013, the audit committee has (i) reviewed the quarterly and half-yearly results; (ii) reviewed the 

accounting policies adopted by the Group and issues related to accounting practice; (iii) met with external auditors 

to discuss on issues arising from the audit and financial reporting matters and reviewed the relationship with the 

external auditors by reference to the work performed by the auditors, their fees and terms of engagement; and (iv) 

assisted the Board to evaluate on the effectiveness of financial reporting procedure and internal control.

The Group’s audited results for the year ended 31 December 2013 have been reviewed by the Audit Committee and 

which was of the opinion that such results complied with the applicable accounting standards and that adequate 

disclosures had been made.

Auditors’ Remuneration

For the year ended 31 December 2013, the remuneration paid/payable to the external auditors in respect of 

audit services amounted to approximately HK$887,000 (2012: HK$866,000), and non-audit services assignment 

amounted to approximately HK$86,000 (2012: HK$443,000). Auditors’ remuneration for non-audit services includes 

remuneration paid/payable to KPMG for providing certain tax services.
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NOMINATION COMMITTEE

The Company has established a nomination committee on 20 May 2010 with written terms of reference. The 

nomination committee comprises one executive Director namely Mr. Pang Kwok Chau and two independent non-

executive Directors namely Ms. Lee Man Yee, Maggie and Mr. Chen Xue Dao. Ms. Lee Man Yee, Maggie has been 

appointed as the chairman of the nomination committee.

The nomination committee follows a formal, fair and transparent procedure for the appointment of new directors to 

the Board. The nomination committee reviews the structure, size and composition of the Board, identifies suitably 

qualified candidates to become Board members and select or make recommendations to the Board on the selection 

of candidates nominated for directorships and succession planning for directors. During this process, the nomination 

committee considers candidates based on merit and with due regard to the benefits of diversity on the Board. The 

nomination committee also took into consideration the criteria such as skills, experience, professional knowledge 

and the Company’s needs when considering new director appointments. The terms of reference of the nomination 

committee have been uploaded to the website of the Stock Exchange and the Company.

The Directors held a meeting on 27 March 2014 for the nominations of Directors. The attendance record of the 

meeting is as follows:

Name of Directors

Number of

Meetings Attended  

Mr. Pang Kwok Chau (彭國洲) (Executive Director) 1/1

Mr. Chen Xue Dao (陳學道) (Independent Non-Executive Director) 1/1

Ms. Lee Man Yee, Maggie (李敏怡) (Independent Non-Executive Director) 1/1

In the latest meeting, the nomination committee members considered and passed resolutions recommending that 

all the Directors shall be retained. In addition, resolutions were passed pursuant to the articles of association of the 

Company, and subject to the proposed arrangement being passed at the forthcoming annual general meeting, that 

Mr. Li Wang, Mr. Chen Xue Dao and Ms. Lee Man Yee, Maggie will retire and, being eligible, will offer themselves for 

re-election at the forthcoming annual general meeting.

Furthermore, the nomination committee has reviewed the annual confirmation of independence submitted by the 

independent non-executive Directors, assessed their independence and reviewed the structure, size and diversity 

(including without limitation, gender, age, cultural and educational background, ethnicity, professional experience, 

skills, knowledge and length of service) of the Board.

The Board had adopted a board diversity policy for maintaining a balance of skills, experience and diversity of 

perspectives on the Board, which are appropriate to the requirements of the Company’s business.

The following is a summary of the board diversity policy:

‧ reviewing and assessing the composition of the Board to maintain an appropriate range and balance of talents, 

skills, experience and background on the Board;

‧ recommending candidates for appointment to the Board by considering merit against objective criteria and with 

due regard for the benefits of diversity on the Board; and

‧ conducting the annual review of the effectiveness of the Board by considering the balance of talents, skills, 

experience, independence and knowledge of the Board and the diversity of the Board.
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The achievement of these criteria will be measurable on an objective review, which can enhance the diversity of 

background and experience of individual directors and the effectiveness of the Board in promoting shareholders’ 

interests.

REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

The Company has established a remuneration committee with written terms of reference in compliance with the CG 

Code as set out in Appendix 15 of the GEM Listing Rules. The remuneration committee comprises one non-executive 

Director, namely, Mr. Li Kin Shing and two independent non-executive Directors, namely Mr. Chen Xue Dao and 

Ms. Lee Man Yee, Maggie. Ms. Lee Man Yee, Maggie has been appointed as the chairman of the remuneration 

committee. The primary duties of the remuneration committee are, amongst other things, to review and determine the 

terms of remuneration packages, bonuses and other compensation payable to the Directors and senior management 

and to make recommendation to the Board on the Group’s policy and structure for all remuneration of the Directors 

and senior management.

Remuneration committee held a meeting on 27 March 2014. The attendance record of the meeting is as follows:

Name of Directors

Number of

Meetings Attended  

Mr. Li Kin Shing (李健誠) (Non-Executive Director) 1/1

Ms. Lee Man Yee, Maggie (李敏怡) (Independent Non-Executive Director) 1/1

Mr. Chen Xue Dao (陳學道) (Independent Non-Executive Director) 1/1

Remuneration committee members have considered, reviewed and made recommendation to the Board on the 

remuneration policy and structure of the Company and the terms of service contracts of all Directors and senior 

management. The remuneration committee members are of the opinion that the provisions of the service contracts of 

all Directors and senior management are fair.

Details of directors’ remunerations and five employees with highest emolument are set out in note 7 and note 8 to 

the financial statements.

Pursuant to the code provision B.1.5 of the CG Code, the remuneration of the members of the senior management 

by band for the year ended 31 December 2013 is set out below:

In the band of Number of individuals  

HK$Nil - HK$1,000,000 10
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE FUNCTIONS

The Board has delegated the corporate governance functions to the Audit Committee with the following duties:

‧ to develop and review the Company’s policies and practices on corporate governance and make 

recommendations to the Board;

‧ to review and monitor the training and continuous professional development of Directors;

‧ to review and monitor the Company’s policies and practices on compliance with legal and regulatory 

requirements;

‧ to develop, review and monitor the code of conduct and compliance manual (if any) applicable to employees 

and Directors;

‧ to review the Company’s compliance with the CG Code and disclosure in the Corporate Governance Report; 

and

‧ to report to the Board on the corporate governance matters.

INTERNAL CONTROL

The Board recognises the importance of maintaining an adequate and effective internal control system to safeguard 

the Group’s assets against unauthorised use of disposition, and to protect the interests of shareholders of the 

Company. The Board assumes the overall responsibility for reviewing the adequacy and integrity of the Group’s 

internal control system.

The Board has conducted an annual review of its system of internal control to ensure the effective and adequate 

internal control system of the Group. The Board convened meeting periodically to discuss financial, operational 

and risk management control. The Directors are of the opinion that internal controls at present have been valid and 

adequate.

COMPANY SECRETARY

Ms. Chan Wai Ching was appointed as the company secretary of the Company since 6 August 2009. The 

biographical details of Ms. Chan is set out in the section of Profile of Directors and Senior Management on page 35 

of this report. Up to the date of this report, Ms. Chan has undertaken not less than 15 hours of relevant professional 

training to update her skill and knowledge.
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INVESTOR RELATIONS

The Board recognises the importance of good communications with all shareholders. The Company believes that 

maintaining a high level of transparency is a key to enhancing investor relations. It is committed to a policy of open 

and timely disclosure of corporate information to its shareholders and investors.

The Company updates its shareholders on its latest business developments and financial performance through 

its annual, interim and quarterly report and notices, announcements and circulars. The corporate website of the 

Company (www.directel.hk) provides a communication platform to the public and the shareholders.

The attendance of members of the Board to the annual general meeting held on 10 May 2013 are as follows:

Name of Directors

Number of

Meetings Attended  

Mr. Li Kin Shing (李健誠) (Chairman and Non-Executive Director) 0/1

Mr. Pang Kwok Chau (彭國洲) (Executive Director and Chief Executive Officer) 1/1

Mr. Li Wang (李宏) (Executive Director) 1/1

Mr. Wong Kin Wa (黃建華) (Non-Executive Director) 1/1

Mr. Chu, Howard Ho Hwa (朱賀華) (Independent Non-Executive Director) 0/1

Mr. Chen Xue Dao (陳學道) (Independent Non-Executive Director) 0/1

Ms. Lee Man Yee, Maggie (李敏怡) (Independent Non-Executive Director) 1/1

During the year ended 31 December 2013, there had been no significant change in the Company’s constitutional 

documents.

SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS

Convening an extraordinary general meeting

Pursuant to article 64 of the articles of association of the Company, extraordinary general meetings of the Company 

(the “EGM(s)”) shall also be convened on the requisition of one or more shareholders holding, at the date of deposit 

of the requisition, not less than one-tenth of the paid up capital of the Company having the right of voting at general 

meetings. Such requisition shall be made in writing to the Board or the Company Secretary for the purpose of 

requiring an EGM to be called by the Board for the transaction of any business specified in such requisition. Such 

meeting shall be held within two months after the deposit of such requisition. If within twenty one days of such 

deposit, the Board fails to proceed to convene such meeting, the requisitionist(s) himself (themselves) may do so in 

the same manner, and all reasonable expenses incurred by the requisitionist(s), as a result of the failure of the Board 

shall be reimbursed to the requisitionist(s) by the Company.

Putting enquiries to the Board

Shareholders may at any time make enquiries to the Board or make a request for the Company’s information to the 

extent such information is publicly available. Any such questions shall be first directed to the Company Secretary at 

the Company’s head office and principal place of business in Hong Kong at Office Nos. 1, 2, 14 and 15, 37th Floor, 

Hong Kong Plaza, No. 188 Connaught Road West.
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Putting forward proposals at shareholders’ meeting

The procedures for shareholders to put forward proposals at general meeting include a written notice of proposals 

being submitted by shareholders, addressed to the Company Secretary of the Company at our head office. Specific 

enquiries by shareholders requiring the Board’s attention can be sent in writing to the Company Secretary at the 

Company’s head office. Other general enquiries can be directed to the Company through the Company’s website.

FINANCIAL REPORTING

The Directors are responsible for the preparation of the financial statements for each financial year, which give a 

true and fair view of the financial position and operating results of the Group. The auditors are responsible to form an 

independent opinion based on the audit, on the financial statements prepared by the Directors and report the opinion 

solely to the shareholders of the Company.



2013 ANNUAL REPORT 33

PROFILE OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

CHAIRMAN AND NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Li Kin Shing (李健誠), aged 56, is the chairman and a non-executive Director. Mr. Li has over 24 years of 

experience in the telecommunications industry. Mr. Li is the chairman, an executive director and chief executive 

officer of International Elite Ltd., a company listed on the Main Board and controlled by Mr. Li and his spouse Ms. 

Kwok King Wa. Mr. Li was the chief executive officer and president of ChinaCast Education Corporation, a limited 

liability company incorporated in the State of Delaware, US, whose shares are displayed on the Over the Counter 

Bulletin Board when he resigned from these positions on 2 February 2007 following the acquisition of ChinaCast 

Education Corporation by an Independent Third Party, in December 2006. Mr. Li has confirmed that there were 

no disagreements between Mr. Li and ChinaCast Education Corporation on any matter relating to the ChinaCast 

Education Corporation’s operations, policies or practices that resulted in his resignation. ChinaCast Education 

Corporation is a for-profit, post-secondary education and e-learning services provider in China. Mr. Li is the brother of 

Mr. Li Wang, the executive Director of the Company. He was appointed as the chairman and non-executive Director 

on 31 August 2009. Mr. Li is a director of New Everich Holdings Limited, which is interested in 696,250,000 shares of 

the Company representing 67.11% of the issued share capital of the Company.

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Pang Kwok Chau (彭國洲), aged 53, is the chief executive officer and an executive Director. He is responsible 

for the overall marketing strategic planning and direction of the Group. Mr. Pang obtained a craft certificate in radio 

servicing (無線電修理行業技能證書) after the completion of a two-year part-time evening course from a Technical 

Institute under the Education Department, Hong Kong in July 1979 immediately following his graduation from 

secondary school and has over 19 years of experience in the telecommunications industry, especially in international 

roaming operation. Since joining the Group, Mr. Pang has actively involved in the Group’s business of “One 

Card Multiple Number” service in Hong Kong and the PRC. He has also involved in the Group’s overall corporate 

governance since 2007. Before joining the Group as the general manager in 2001, Mr. Pang served as the manager 

of China-Hong Kong Telelink Company Limited since 1995. He was appointed as an executive Director on 31 August 

2009.

Mr. Li Wang (李宏), aged 43, is the executive Director. He is responsible for the overall management, corporate 

planning and business development of the Group. Mr. Li has over 10 years of experience in telecommunications 

industry. Mr. Li worked as a manager of a PRC telecommunications company namely, 廣州天龍信息工程公司 

(Guangzhou Talent Information Engineering Company Limited) from 1993 to 1997 and was responsible for the 

management and promotion of pager and mobile telecommunications services business. Mr. Li then worked as a 

vice-general manager of 廣東直通電訊股份有限公司 (Guangdong Zhitong Telecommunications Limited) from 1997 

to 1999, and gained experience in marketing of telecommunication service business. He also worked as a director of 

Directel Communications Limited from 1995 to 2000, a director of Target Link Enterprises Limited, a private company 

engaged in investment of software, from 1997 to 2004 and a director and a legal representative of 廣東直通投資有
限公司 (Guangdong Zhitong Investment Ltd.) from 1992 to 2009. He is the brother of Mr. Li Kin Shing, the chairman 

and non-executive Director of the Company. He was appointed as an executive Director on 31 August 2009.
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NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR

Mr. Wong Kin Wa (黃建華), aged 46, is a non-executive Director. Mr. Wong obtained a diploma in auditing from 

Guangzhou Radio & TV University in 1988. Mr. Wong has over 13 years of finance and marketing experience, in 

particular in the telecommunications industry in Hong Kong and Macau. Mr. Wong is an executive director and chief 

financial officer of IEL, a company listed on the Main Board and controlled by Mr. Li Kin Shing and his spouse, Ms. 

Kwok King Wa. Before joining IEL in 2000, he was the manager of China-Hong Kong Telelink Co., Ltd. from 1997 

to 1999. Mr. Wong joined Denway Motors Limited (駿威汽車有限公司) (previously known as Denway Investment 

Limited), a company listed on the Main Board, as the vice general manager of the Finance Department from 1993 to 

1997. He was appointed as a non-executive Director on 31 August 2009.

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Chen Xue Dao (陳學道), aged 71, was appointed as an independent non-executive Director on 20 May 2010. 

Mr. Chen is currently an honorary member of the China Institute of Communications (中國通信學會), honorary 

chairman of the Guangdong Institute of Communications (廣東省通信學會) and honorary chairman of Guangdong 

Communication Industry Association (廣東省通信行業協會). Mr. Chen also holds the qualification of a senior 

engineer at Professor grade, and he has been granted the special subsidy by the State Council of the PRC for 

his prominent contributions to engineering science since 1992. Mr. Chen has been an independent non-executive 

Director of IEL, an independent director of Eastone Century Technology Holding Co., Ltd. (Guangdong) (廣東宜
通世紀科技股份有限公司), a company listed in the Shenzhen Stock Exchange with stock code 300310, and an 

independent director of GCI Science & Technology Co., Ltd. (廣州傑賽科技股份有限公司), a company listed in the 

Shenzhen Stock Exchange with stock code 002544.

Mr. Chu, Howard Ho Hwa (朱賀華), aged 49, was appointed as an independent non-executive Director on 20 May 

2010. Mr. Chu has over 13 years of business experience and over 7 years of experience in corporate governance. 

Mr. Chu is currently the chief executive officer of mReferral Corporation (HK) Limited which is a leading mortgage 

referral company and is a joint venture of Midland Holdings Limited and Cheung Kong (Holdings) Limited. From 

March 2012 to June 2012, he was the chief financial officer of China Smart Electric Co. Ltd. From July 2009 to 

October 2011, he was the chief financial officer of Trony Solar Holdings Company Limited which is a publicly listed 

company on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange (stock code: 2468). From September 2010 to May 2012, he 

was an independent non-executive Director of China Kingstone Mining Holdings Limited which is a publicly listed 

company on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange (stock code: 1380). He has previously worked for Shanghai 

Century Acquisition Corporation, a company listed on the American Stock Exchange, and United Energy Group 

Limited, a company listed on the Stock Exchange. He was a director at ABN AMRO Asia Corporate Finance Ltd. 

and was also a director at the Hong Kong and Shanghai Banking Corporation Ltd. He is currently an independent 

non-executive Director of Weichai Power Co. Ltd. which is a publicly listed company on the Main Board of Stock 

Exchange (stock code: 2338). He obtained a master degree of business administration from the Columbia University 

and a bachelor degree of science from the University of Rochester in 1990 and 1986 respectively.

Ms. Lee Man Yee, Maggie (李敏怡), aged 43, was appointed as an independent non-executive Director on 20 May 

2010. Ms. Lee has over 13 years of accounting, finance, taxation, audit and corporate governance experience 

and is a member of Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants and a fellow member of the Association of 

Chartered Certified Accountants. Ms. Lee obtained a diploma in business administration in the PRC from the Hong 

Kong Productivity Council.
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SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Ms. Chan Wai Ching (陳惠貞), aged 52, joined the Group in 2009 and was appointed as the company secretary 

of the Company on 6 August 2009. Ms. Chan has over 28 years of experience in accounting, finance, taxation 

and corporate governance and is an associate member of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants 

and a fellow member of the Association of Chartered Certified Accountants. Ms. Chan holds a master degree of 

professional accounting from The Hong Kong Polytechnic University. Ms. Chan has been the qualified accountant 

and company secretary of IEL since June 2007.

Mr. Hui Luen Sing, Anthony (許聯星), aged 47, joined the Group in 2006 and has been the manager of the 

information technology and network department of the Group since 2006. He is responsible for the overall 

management and to provide advice on various information technology and network technical issues to the Group. 

Mr. Hui has more than 23 years of experience in telecommunications industry. Prior joining the Group, Mr. Hui 

has worked for several telecommunications service providers for over 11 years. Mr. Hui obtained a certificate 

in electronics from the Vocational Training Council and completed a certificate programme on supervisory of 

management for managers from The Hong Kong Management Association.

Mr. Li Chi Chung (李智聰), aged 40, joined the Group in 2011 and is the financial manager of the Group. He 

is responsible for the financial and accounting issues of the Group. Mr. Li has over 12 years of experience in 

accounting, finance, taxation and corporate governance and is an associate member of the Hong Kong Institute of 

Certified Public Accountant. Mr. Li holds a bachelor degree of arts in financial management and accounting from the 

Heriot-Watt University.
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To the shareholders of Directel Holdings Limited

(incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Directel Holdings Limited (“the Company”) and its 

subsidiaries (together “the Group”) set out on pages 38 to 83, which comprise the consolidated and company 

balance sheets as at 31 December 2013, the consolidated statement of profit or loss, the consolidated statement of 

profit or loss and other comprehensive income, the consolidated statement of changes in equity and the consolidated 

cash flow statement for the year then ended and a summary of significant accounting policies and other explanatory 

information.

DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITY FOR THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of consolidated financial statements that give a true 

and fair view in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards issued by the International Accounting 

Standards Board and the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance and for such internal 

control as the directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated financial statements that 

are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITY

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these consolidated financial statements based on our audit. This report 

is made solely to you, as a body, and for no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility towards or accept 

liability to any other person for the contents of this report.

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on Auditing issued by the Hong Kong Institute 

of Certified Public Accountants. Those standards require that we comply with ethical requirements and plan and 

perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements are free from 

material misstatement.

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the 

consolidated financial statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditor’s judgement, including the 

assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or 

error. In making those risk assessments, the auditor considers internal control relevant to the entity’s preparation 

of the consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view in order to design audit procedures that are 

appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the 

entity’s internal control. An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the 

reasonableness of accounting estimates made by the directors, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the 

consolidated financial statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit 

opinion.
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OPINION

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and fair view of the state of affairs of the Company 

and of the Group as at 31 December 2013 and of the Group’s profit and cash flows for the year then ended in 

accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards and have been properly prepared in accordance with 

the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

KPMG

Certified Public Accountants

8th Floor, Prince’s Building

10 Chater Road

Central, Hong Kong

27 March 2014
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS
For the year ended 31 December 2013

2013 2012

Note HK$’000 HK$’000    

Turnover 3 50,882 71,780

Cost of sales (25,106) (29,604)
  

Gross profit 25,776 42,176

Other income 43 44

Administrative expenses (14,489) (15,760)
  

Profit from operations 11,330 26,460

Finance income 4 985 278
  

Profit before taxation 5 12,315 26,738

Income tax 6(a) (2,234) (4,608)
  

Profit for the year attributable to equity

 shareholders of the Company 10,081 22,130
  

Earnings per share

 – Basic and diluted 10 HK$0.010 HK$0.021
  

The notes on pages 44 to 83 form part of these financial statements.
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OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

For the year ended 31 December 2013

The Group had no components of comprehensive income other than “Profit for the year attributable to equity 

shareholders of the Company” in the years presented. Accordingly, no separate consolidated statement of profit or 

loss and other comprehensive income is presented as the Group’s “Total comprehensive income for the year” was 

the same as the “Profit for the year attributable to equity shareholders of the Company” in the years presented.

The notes on pages 44 to 83 form part of these financial statements.
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2013 2012

Note HK$’000 HK$’000    

Non-current assets

Property, plant and equipment 12 5,108 5,969

Deferred tax assets 17(b) 1,585 1,951
   

Total non-current assets 6,693 7,920
   

Current assets

Inventories 13 314 303

Trade and other receivables 14 36,329 46,472

Income tax recoverable 17(a) 1,394 753

Cash at bank and on hand 15 126,229 108,858
   

Total current assets 164,266 156,386
   

Current liabilities

Trade and other payables 16 7,453 10,730

Income tax payables 17(a) — 21
   

Total current liabilities 7,453 10,751
   

Net current assets 156,813 145,635
   

Total assets less current liabilities 163,506 153,555
   

Non-current liabilities

Deferred tax liabilities 17(b) 803 933
   

Total non-current liabilities 803 933
   

Net assets 162,703 152,622
   

Capital and reserves 18

Share capital 10,375 10,375

Share premium 67,499 67,499

Other reserve — —

Retained earnings 84,829 74,748
   

Total equity 162,703 152,622
   

Approved and authorised for issue by the board of directors on 27 March 2014.

 Mr. Pang Kwok Chau Mr. Li Wang

 Director Director

The notes on pages 44 to 83 form part of these financial statements.
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2013 2012

Note HK$’000 HK$’000    

Non-current assets

Investments in subsidiaries 11 — —
  

Total non-current assets — —
  

Current assets

Amounts due from subsidiaries 14 1,068 1,237

Other receivables and prepayments 14 518 383

Income tax recoverable 17(a) 16 23

Cash at bank and on hand 15 62,797 63,308
  

Total current assets 64,399 64,951
  

Current liabilities

Other payables 16 972 1,918

Income tax payables 17(a) — —
  

Total current liabilities 972 1,918
  

Net current assets 63,427 63,033
  

Net assets 63,427 63,033
  

Capital and reserves 18

Share capital 10,375 10,375

Share premium 67,499 67,499

Accumulated losses (14,447) (14,841)
  

Total equity 63,427 63,033
  

Approved and authorised for issue by the board of directors on 27 March 2014.

 Mr. Pang Kwok Chau Mr. Li Wang

 Director Director

The notes on pages 44 to 83 form part of these financial statements.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
For the year ended 31 December 2013

Share Share Other Retained Total

capital premium reserve earnings equity

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

Note 18(b) Note 18(c)(i) Note 18(c)(ii)      

Balance at 1 January 2012 10,375 67,499 — 52,618 130,492

Change in equity for 2012:

Profit and total

 comprehensive income for the year — — — 22,130 22,130
     

Balance at 31 December 2012 and 

 at 1 January 2013 10,375 67,499 — 74,748 152,622

Change in equity for 2013:

Profit and total

 comprehensive income for the year — — — 10,081 10,081
     

Balance at 31 December 2013 10,375 67,499 — 84,829 162,703
     

The notes on pages 44 to 83 form part of these financial statements.
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For the year ended 31 December 2013

2013 2012

Note HK$’000 HK$’000    

Operating activities

Profit before taxation 12,315 26,738

Adjustments for:

Depreciation 5(b) 920 851

(Reversal of write down of)/allowance for doubtful debts 5(b) (66) 48

Reversal of write down of inventories 13(b) (840) (7)

Interest income 4 (570) (380)
  

11,759 27,250

Change in inventories 829 25

Change in trade and other receivables 10,209 12,583

Change in trade and other payables (3,277) 198
  

Cash generated from operations 19,520 40,056

Income tax paid (2,660) (3,860)
  

Net cash generated from operating activities 16,860 36,196
  

Cash flows from investing activities

Interest received 4 570 380

Acquisition of property, plant and equipment (59) (1,515)

Increase in long term fixed deposits (73,979) —
  

Net cash used in investing activities (73,468) (1,135)
  

Net (decrease)/increase in cash and cash equivalents (56,608) 35,061

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of the year 15 108,858 73,797
  

Cash and cash equivalents at end of the year 15 52,250 108,858
  

The notes on pages 44 to 83 form part of these financial statements.



DIRECTEL HOLDINGS LIMITED44

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

1 BACKGROUND OF THE COMPANY

Directel Holdings Limited (the “Company”) was incorporated in the Cayman Islands on 28 July 2009 as an 

exempted company with limited liability under the Companies Law, Chapter 22 (Law 3 of 1961, as consolidated 

and revised) of the Cayman Islands. The Company has established a place of business in Hong Kong and 

was registered in Hong Kong under Part XI of the Companies Ordinance as a non-Hong Kong company on 

25 September 2009. On 2 June 2010, the Company listed its shares with a par value of HK$0.01 each on the 

Growth Enterprise Market (“GEM”) of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (“the Stock Exchange”).

The Company and its subsidiaries (together referred to as the “Group”) are principally engaged in provision of 

telecommunications services.

2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(a) Statement of compliance

These financial statements have been prepared in accordance with all applicable International Financial 

Reporting Standards (“IFRSs”), which collective term includes all applicable individual International 

Financial Reporting Standards, International Accounting Standards (“IAS”) and interpretations, issued by 

the International Accounting Standards Board (“IASB”).

These financial statements also comply with the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies 

Ordinance and the applicable disclosure provisions of the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on 

the Growth Enterprise Market of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited. A summary of the significant 

accounting policies adopted by the Group is set out below.

The IASB has issued certain new and revised IFRSs that are first effective or available for early adoption 

for the current accounting period of the Group and the Company. Note 2(c) provides information on any 

changes in accounting policies resulting from initial application of these developments to the extent that 

they are relevant to the Group for the current and prior accounting periods reflected in these financial 

statements.
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2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(b) Basis of preparation of financial statements

The consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2013 comprise the Company and 

its subsidiaries (together referred to as the “Group”).

The measurement basis used in the preparation of the financial statements is the historical cost basis.

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with IFRSs requires management to make 

judgements, estimates and assumptions that affect the application of policies and reported amounts 

of assets, liabilities, income and expenses. The estimates and associated assumptions are based 

on historical experience and various other factors that are believed to be reasonable under the 

circumstances, the results of which form the basis of making the judgements about carrying values of 

assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent from other sources. Actual results may differ from these 

estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting 

estimates are recognised in the period in which the estimate is revised if the revision affects only that 

period, or in the period of the revision and future periods if the revision affects both current and future 

periods.

Judgements made by management in the application of IFRSs that have significant effect on the financial 

statements and major sources of estimation uncertainty are discussed in note 23.

(c) Changes in accounting policies

The IASB has issued a number of new IFRSs and amendments to IFRSs that are first effective for the 

current accounting period of the Group and the Company. Of these, the following developments are 

relevant to the Group’s financial statements:

• Amendments to IAS 1, Presentation of financial statements

• IFRS 10, Consolidated financial statements

• IFRS 12, Disclosure of interests in other entities

• IFRS 13, Fair value measurement

• Amendments to IFRS 7, Disclosure – Offsetting financial assets and financial liabilities

Amendments to IAS 1, Presentation of financial statements

The Group has chosen to use the new titles “statement of profit or loss” and “statement of profit or loss 

and other comprehensive income” as introduced by the amendments in these financial statements.
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2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(c) Changes in accounting policies (Continued)

IFRS 10, Consolidated financial statements

IFRS 10 replaces the requirements in IAS 27, Consolidated and separate financial statements, relating 

to the preparation of consolidated financial statements and SIC-12, Consolidation – Special purpose 

entities.  It introduces a single control model to determine whether an investee should be consolidated, by 

focusing on whether the entity has power over the investee, exposure or rights to variable returns from its 

involvement with the investee and the ability to use its power to affect the amount of those returns.

As a result of the adoption of IFRS 10, the Group has changed its accounting policy with respect to 

determining whether it has control over an investee. The adoption does not change any of the control 

conclusions reached by the Group in respect of its involvement with other entities as at 1 January 2013.

IFRS 12, Disclosure of interests in other entities

IFRS 12 brings together into a single standard all the disclosure requirements relevant to an entity’s 

interests in subsidiaries, joint arrangements, associates and unconsolidated structured entities. The 

disclosures required in IFRS 12 are generally more extensive than those previously required by the 

respective standards. To the extent that the requirements are applicable to the Group, the Group has 

provided those disclosures in note 11.

IFRS 13, Fair value measurement

IFRS 13 replaces existing guidance in individual IFRSs with a single source of fair value measurement 

guidance. IFRS 13 also contains extensive disclosure requirements about fair value measurements for 

both financial instruments and non-financial instruments. The adoption of IFRS 13 does not have any 

material impact on the fair value measurements of the Group’s assets and liabilities.

Amendments to IFRS 7 – Disclosures – Offsetting financial assets and financial liabilities

The amendments introduce new disclosures in respect of offsetting financial assets and financial 

liabilities. Those new disclosures are required for all recognised financial instruments that are set 

off in accordance with IAS 32, Financial instruments: Presentation and those that are subject to an 

enforceable master netting arrangement or similar agreement that covers similar financial instruments 

and transactions, irrespective of whether the financial instruments are set off in accordance with IAS 32.

As a result of the amendments to IFRS 7, the Group has expanded its disclosures about offsetting of the 

financial instruments and provided those disclosures in note 19(e).

The Group has not applied any new standard or interpretation that is not yet effective for the current 

accounting period (note 25).
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2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(d) Subsidiaries

Subsidiaries are entities controlled by the Group. The Group controls an entity when it is exposed to, or 

has rights, to variable returns from its involvement with the entity and has the ability to affect those returns 

through its power over the entity. When assessing whether the Group has power, only substantive rights 

(held by the Group and other parties) are considered.

An investment in a subsidiary is consolidated into the consolidated financial statements from the date that 

control commences until the date the control ceases.

Intra-group balances, transactions and cash flows and any unrealised profits arising from intra-group 

transactions are eliminated in full in preparing the consolidated financial statements. Unrealised losses 

resulting from intra- group transactions are eliminated in the same way as unrealised gains but only to the 

extent that there is no evidence of impairment.

In the Company’s balance sheet, investments in subsidiaries are stated at cost less impairment losses 

(note 2(g)(ii)).

(e) Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment are stated in the balance sheet at cost less accumulated depreciation and 

impairment losses (note 2(g)(ii)).

Cost includes expenditures that are directly attributable to the acquisition of an asset.

Gains or losses arising from the retirement or disposal of an item of property, plant and equipment are 

determined as the difference between the net disposal proceeds and the carrying amount of the item and 

are recognised in profit or loss on the date of retirement or disposal.

Depreciation is calculated to write off the cost of items of property, plant and equipment, less their 

estimated residual value, if any, using the straight line method over their estimated useful lives as follows:

‧ Furniture and fixtures 5 years

‧ Facilities equipment 5-8 years

‧ Office equipment 5 years

Both the useful life of an asset and its residual value, if any, are reviewed annually.

(f) Operating lease charges

Leases of assets under which the lessor has not transferred substantially all the risks and rewards of 

ownership are classified as operating leases.

Where the Group has the use of assets under operating leases, payments made under the leases are 

charged to profit or loss in equal instalments over the accounting periods covered by the lease term, 

except where an alternative basis is more representative of the pattern of benefits to be derived from 

the leased asset. Lease incentives received are recognised in profit or loss as an integral part of the 

aggregate net lease payments made.
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2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(g) Impairment of assets

(i) Impairment of trade and other receivables

Trade and other receivables that are stated at amortised cost are reviewed at each balance 

sheet date to determine whether there is objective evidence of impairment. Objective evidence of 

impairment includes observable data that come to the attention of the Group about one or more of 

the following loss events:

‧ significant financial difficulty of the debtor;

‧ a breach of contract, such as a default or delinquency in interest or principal payments;

‧ it becoming probable that the debtor will enter bankruptcy or other financial reorganisation; 

and

‧ significant changes in the technological, market, economic or legal environment that have an 

adverse effect on the debtor.

If any such evidence exists, any impairment loss is determined and recognised as the difference 

between the asset’s carrying amount and the present value of estimated future cash flows, 

discounted at the financial asset’s original effective interest rate (i.e. the effective interest rate 

computed at initial recognition of these assets), where the effect of discounting is material. This 

assessment is made collectively where financial assets carried at amortised cost share similar 

risk characteristics, such as similar past due status, and have not been individually assessed as 

impaired. Future cash flows for financial assets which are assessed for impairment collectively are 

based on historical loss experience for assets with credit risk characteristics similar to the collective 

group.

If in a subsequent period the amount of an impairment loss decreases and the decrease can be 

linked objectively to an event occurring after the impairment loss was recognised, the impairment 

loss is reversed through profit or loss. A reversal of an impairment loss shall not result in the asset’s 

carrying amount exceeding that which would have been determined had no impairment loss been 

recognised in prior years.

Impairment losses are written off against the corresponding assets directly, except for impairment 

losses recognised in espect of trade debtors included within trade and other receivables, whose 

recovery is considered doubtful but not remote. In this case, the impairment losses for doubtful 

debts are recorded using an allowance account. When the Group is satisfied that recovery is 

remote, the amount considered irrecoverable is written off against trade debtors directly and any 

amounts held in the allowance account relating to that debt are reversed. Subsequent recoveries of 

amounts previously charged to the allowance account are reversed against the allowance account. 

Other changes in the allowance account and subsequent recoveries of amounts previously written 

off directly are recognised in profit or loss.
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2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(g) Impairment of assets (Continued)

(ii) Impairment of other assets

Internal and external sources of information are reviewed at each balance sheet date to identify 

indications that the following assets may be impaired or an impairment loss previously recognised 

no longer exists or may have decreased:

— Property, plant and equipment; and

— Investment in subsidiaries.

If any such indication exists, the asset’s recoverable amount is estimated.

— Calculation of recoverable amount

The recoverable amount of an asset is the greater of its fair value less costs of disposal and 

value in use. In assessing value in use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their 

present value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market assessments of the 

time value of money and the risks specific to the asset. Where an asset does not generate 

cash inflows largely independent of those from other assets, the recoverable amount is 

determined for the smallest group of assets that generates cash inflows independently (i.e. a 

cash-generating unit).

— Recognition of impairment losses

An impairment loss is recognised in profit or loss if the carrying amount of an asset, or the 

cash-generating unit to which it belongs, exceeds its recoverable amount. Impairment losses 

recognised in respect of cash-generating units are allocated to reduce the carrying amount of 

the other assets in the cash-generating unit (or group of units) on a pro rata basis, except that 

the carrying value of an asset will not be reduced below its individual fair value less costs of 

disposal (if measurable) or value in use (if determinable).

— Reversals of impairment losses

An impairment loss is reversed if there has been a favourable change in the estimates used 

to determine the recoverable amount. A reversal of an impairment loss is limited to the asset’s 

carrying amount that would have been determined had no impairment loss been recognised 

in prior years. Reversals of impairment losses are credited to profit or loss in the year in which 

the reversals are recognised.

(iii) Interim financial reporting and impairment

Under the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on the Growth Enterprise Market of Stock 

Exchange of Hong Kong Limited, the Group is required to prepare an interim financial report in 

compliance with IAS 34, Interim financial reporting, in respect of the first six months of the financial 

year. At the end of the interim period, the Group applies the same impairment testing, recognition, 

and reversal criteria as it would at the end of the financial year (see notes 2(g)(i) and (ii)).
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2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(h) Inventories

Inventories are carried at the lower of cost and net realisable value.

Cost is calculated using the first-in, first-out formula and comprises all costs of purchase, and other costs 

incurred in bringing the inventories to their present location and condition.

Net realisable value is the estimated selling price in the ordinary course of business less the estimated 

costs necessary to make the sale.

When inventories are sold, the carrying amount of those inventories is recognised as an expense in the 

period in which the related revenue is recognised. The amount of any write-down of inventories to net 

realisable value and all losses of inventories are recognised as an expense in the period the write-down 

or loss occurs. The amount of any reversal of any write-down of inventories is recognised as a reduction 

in the amount of inventories recognised as an expense in the period in which the reversal occurs.

(i) Trade and other receivables

Trade and other receivables are initially recognised at fair value and thereafter stated at amortised cost 

using the effective interest method, less allowance for impairment of doubtful debts (note 2(g)(i)), except 

where the receivables are interest-free loans made to related parties without any fixed repayment terms 

or the effect of discounting would be immaterial. In such cases, the receivables are stated at cost less 

allowance for impairment of doubtful debts.

(j) Trade and other payables

Trade and other payables are initially recognised at fair value and thereafter stated at amortised cost 

unless the effect of discounting would be immaterial, in which case they are stated at cost.

(k) Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash at bank and on hand, demand deposits with banks and other 

financial institutions, and short-term, highly liquid investments that are readily convertible into known 

amounts of cash and which are subject to an insignificant risk of changes in value, having been within 

three months of maturity at acquisition.

(l) Employee benefits

Salaries, annual bonuses, paid annual leave, contributions to defined contribution retirement plans and 

the cost of non-monetary benefits are accrued in the year in which the associated services are rendered 

by employees. Where payment or settlement is deferred and the effect would be material, these amounts 

are stated at their present values.
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2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(m) Income tax

Income tax for the year comprises current tax and movements in deferred tax assets and liabilities. 

Current tax and movements in deferred tax assets and liabilities are recognised in profit or loss except 

to the extent that they relate to items recognised in other comprehensive income or directly in equity, 

in which case the relevant amounts of tax are recognised in other comprehensive income or directly in 

equity, respectively.

Current tax is the expected tax payable on the taxable income for the year, using tax rates enacted or 

substantively enacted at the balance sheet date, and any adjustment to tax payable in respect of previous 

years.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities arise from deductible and taxable temporary differences respectively, 

being the differences between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities for financial reporting 

purposes and their tax bases. Deferred tax assets also arise from unused tax losses and unused tax 

credits.

Apart from certain limited exceptions, all deferred tax liabilities, and all deferred tax assets to the extent 

that it is probable that future taxable profits will be available against which the asset can be utilised, 

are recognised. Future taxable profits that may support the recognition of deferred tax assets arising 

from deductible temporary differences include those that will arise from the reversal of existing taxable 

temporary differences, provided those differences relate to the same taxation authority and the same 

taxable entity, and are expected to reverse either in the same period as the expected reversal of the 

deductible temporary difference or in periods into which a tax loss arising from the deferred tax asset can 

be carried back or forward. The same criteria are adopted when determining whether existing taxable 

temporary differences support the recognition of deferred tax assets arising from unused tax losses and 

credits, that is, those differences are taken into account if they relate to the same taxation authority and 

the same taxable entity, and are expected to reverse in a period, or periods, in which the tax loss or credit 

can be utilised.

The limited exceptions to recognition of deferred tax assets and liabilities are those temporary differences 

arising from the initial recognition of assets or liabilities that affect neither accounting nor taxable profit 

(provided they are not part of a business combination), and temporary differences relating to investments 

in subsidiaries to the extent that, in the case of taxable differences, the Group controls the timing of the 

reversal and it is probable that the differences will not reverse in the foreseeable future, or in the case of 

deductible differences, unless it is probable that they will reverse in the future.

The amount of deferred tax recognised is measured based on the expected manner of realisation or 

settlement of the carrying amount of the assets and liabilities, using tax rates enacted or substantively 

enacted at the balance sheet date. Deferred tax assets and liabilities are not discounted.

The carrying amount of a deferred tax asset is reviewed at each balance sheet date and is reduced to the 

extent that it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profits will be available to allow the related tax 

benefit to be utilised. Any such reduction is reversed to the extent that it becomes probable that sufficient 

taxable profits will be available.
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2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(m) Income tax (Continued)

Current tax balances and deferred tax balances, and movements therein, are presented separately from 

each other and are not offset. Current tax assets are offset against current tax liabilities, and deferred tax 

assets against deferred tax liabilities, if the Company and the Group has the legally enforceable right to 

set off current tax assets against current tax liabilities and the following additional conditions are met:

— in the case of current tax assets and liabilities, the Company or the Group intends either to settle on 

a net basis, or to realise the asset and settle the liability simultaneously; or

— in the case of deferred tax assets and liabilities, if they relate to income taxes levied by the same 

taxation authority on either:

— the same taxable entity; or

— different taxable entities, which, in each future period in which significant amounts of deferred 

tax liabilities or assets are expected to be settled or recovered, intend to realise the current tax 

assets and settle the current tax liabilities on a net basis or realise and settle simultaneously.

(n) Provisions and contingent liabilities

Provisions are recognised for liabilities of uncertain timing or amount when the Group or the Company 

has a legal or constructive obligation arising as a result of a past event, it is probable that an outflow of 

economic benefits will be required to settle the obligation and a reliable estimate can be made. Where the 

time value of money is material, provisions are stated at the present value of the expenditure expected to 

settle the obligation.

Where it is not probable that an outflow of economic benefits will be required, or the amount cannot be 

estimated reliably, the obligation is disclosed as a contingent liability, unless the probability of outflow 

of economic benefits is remote. Possible obligations, whose existence will only be confirmed by the 

occurrence or non-occurrence of one or more future events are also disclosed as contingent liabilities 

unless the probability of outflow of economic benefits is remote.

(o) Revenue recognition

Revenue is measured at the fair value of the consideration received or receivable. Provided it is probable 

that the economic benefits will flow to the Group and the revenue and costs, if applicable, can be 

measured reliably, revenue is recognised in profit or loss as follows:

(i) Revenue from the provision of telecommunications services is recognised when the services have 

been rendered.

(ii) Revenue from the provision of telesales dealership services is recognised when the services 

have been rendered and the Group has obtained the rights to demand payment for the services 

rendered.

(iii) Interest income is recognised as it accrues using the effective interest method.
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2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(p) Translation of foreign currencies

Foreign currency transactions during the year are translated at the foreign exchange rates ruling at the 

transaction dates. Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are translated at the 

foreign exchange rates ruling at the balance sheet date. Exchange gains and losses are recognised in 

profit or loss.

Non-monetary assets and liabilities that are measured in terms of historical cost in a foreign currency are 

translated using the foreign exchange rates ruling at the transaction dates. Non-monetary assets and 

liabilities denominated in foreign currencies that are stated at fair value are translated using the foreign 

exchange rates ruling at the dates the fair value was determined.

(q) Related parties

(i) A person, or a close member of that person’s family, is related to the Group if that person:

(1) has control or joint control over the Group;

(2) has significant influence over the Group; or

(3) is a member of the key management personnel of the Group or the Group’s parent.

(ii) An entity is related to the Group if any of the following conditions applies:

(1) The entity and the Group are member of the same group (which means that each parent, 

subsidiary and fellow subsidiary is related to the others).

(2) One entity is an associate or joint venture of the other entity (or an associate or joint venture 

of a member of a group of which the other entity is a member).

(3) Both entities are joint ventures of the same third party.

(4) One entity is a joint venture of a third party and the other entity is an associate of the third 

party.

(5) The entity is a post-employment benefit plan for the benefit of employees of either the Group 

or an entity related to the Group.

(6) The entity is controlled or jointly-controlled by a person identified in (i).

(7) A person identified in (i)(1) has significant influence over the entity or is a member of the key 

management personnel of the entity (or of a parent of the entity).

Close members of the family of a person are those family members who may be expected to influence, or 

be influenced by, that person in their dealings with the entity.
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2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(r) Segment reporting

IFRS 8 introduces a “management approach” to segment reporting, i.e. the identification of segments 

and the preparation of segment information must be based on the internal reports that the entity’s chief 

operating decision maker reviews regularly in allocating resources to segments and in assessing their 

performance.

The financial information provided to the chief operating decision maker does not contain profit or loss 

information of each service line and the chief operating decision maker reviews the operating results of 

the Group as a whole. Therefore, the operations of the Group constitute one single reportable segment.

3 TURNOVER

The principal activities of the Group are the provision of telecommunications services. Turnover represents the 

sales value of services rendered to customers. The amount of each significant category of revenue recognised 

in turnover during the year is as follows:

2013 2012

HK$’000 HK$’000   

Provision of telecommunications services 50,339 71,106

Provision of telesales dealership services 543 674
  

50,882 71,780
  

Revenue from transactions with external customers, including revenue derived from individual customers who 

are known to the Group to be subject to common control, amounting to 10% or more of the Group’s aggregate 

turnover during the year are as follows:

2013 2012

HK$’000 HK$’000   

The largest customer 17,416 22,256

The second largest customer 9,440 16,536

The third largest customer 6,918 10,880
  

4 FINANCE INCOME

2013 2012

HK$’000 HK$’000   

Interest income 570 380

Net foreign exchange gain/(loss) 415 (102)
  

985 278
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5 PROFIT BEFORE TAXATION

Profit before taxation is arrived at after charging/(crediting):

(a) Staff costs

2013 2012

HK$’000 HK$’000   

Salaries, wages and other benefits 3,507 3,446

Contributions to defined contribution retirement plan 145 143
  

3,652 3,589
  

Staff costs include directors’ remuneration (note 7).

The Group operates a Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme (the “MPF Scheme”) under the Hong Kong 

Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes Ordinance for employees employed under the jurisdiction of 

the Hong Kong Employment Ordinance. The MPF Scheme is a defined contribution retirement plan 

administered by an independent trustee. Under the MPF Scheme, the employer and its employees are 

each required to make contributions to the plan at 5% of the employees’ relevant income, subject to a cap 

of monthly relevant income of HK$25,000 (HK$20,000 prior to June 2012). Contributions to the plan vest 

immediately.

The Group has no other obligations for payment of retirement or other post-retirement benefits of 

employees other than the contributions described above.

(b) Other items

2013 2012

Note HK$’000 HK$’000    

Depreciation 12 920 851

Licence charges 2,320 2,857

Operating lease charges in respect of

 – rental of properties 21(b) 528 528

 – rental of transmission lines 1,079 1,033

Auditors’ remuneration

 – audit services 887 866

 – tax services 76 73

 – other services 10 370

Utilities 78 75

Repair and maintenance 948 537

(Reversal of write down of)/allowance for doubtful debts 14(b) (66) 48

Cost of inventories 13(b) 741 1,049
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6 INCOME TAX IN THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS

(a) Taxation in the consolidated statement of profit or loss represents:

2013 2012

HK$’000 HK$’000   

Current tax – Hong Kong Profits Tax

Provision for the year 2,016 3,398

Over-provision in respect of prior years (18) (109)
  

1,998 3,289
  

Deferred tax

Origination and reversal of temporary differences 236 1,319
  

236 1,319
  

2,234 4,608
  

(i) Hong Kong Profits Tax

The Company’s Hong Kong subsidiaries are subject to Hong Kong Profits Tax. In addition, whilst 

the Company and Elitel Limited are incorporated in the Cayman Islands, they are considered as 

having a presence in Hong Kong for tax purpose since they are primarily managed and controlled 

in Hong Kong. Accordingly, they are subject to tax on an entity basis on income arising in or derived 

from Hong Kong. The provision for Hong Kong Profits Tax for the year ended 31 December 2013 is 

calculated at 16.5% (2012: 16.5%) of the estimated assessable profits for the year. The payments 

of dividends by Hong Kong companies are not subject to any Hong Kong withholding tax.

(b) Reconciliation between tax expense and accounting profit at applicable tax rate:

2013 2012

HK$’000 HK$’000   

Profit before taxation 12,315 26,738
  

Notional tax on profit before taxation, calculated at the

 rate applicable to assessable profits in Hong Kong 2,032 4,412

Tax effect of non-deductible expenses 16 368

Tax effect of non-taxable income (94) (63)

Tax effect of tax losses not recognised 298 —

Over-provision in respect of prior years (18) (109)
  

Actual tax expense 2,234 4,608
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7 DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION

Details of directors’ remuneration disclosed pursuant to Section 161 of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance 

are as follows:

2013

Salaries,

allowances

and Contributions

Directors’ benefits to retirement

fees in kind benefit plan Bonuses Total

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000       

Executive Directors

Pang Kwok Chau 80 488 27 59 654

Li Wang 80 127 7 10 224
     

Subtotal 160 615 34 69 878
     

Non-executive Directors

Li Kin Shing 80 — — — 80

Wong Kin Wa 80 — — — 80
     

Subtotal 160 — — — 160
     

Independent Non-executive Directors

Chen Xue Dao 80 — — — 80

Chu, Howard Ho Hwa 80 — — — 80

Lee Man Yee, Maggie 80 — — — 80
     

Subtotal 240 — — — 240
     

Total 560 615 34 69 1,278
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7 DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION (Continued)

2012

Salaries,

allowances

and Contributions

Directors’ benefits to retirement

fees in kind benefit plan Bonuses Total

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000      

Executive Directors

Pang Kwok Chau 80 487 26 52 645

Li Wang 80 126 7 10 223
     

Subtotal 160 613 33 62 868
     

Non-executive Directors

Li Kin Shing 80 — — — 80

Wong Kin Wa 80 — — — 80
     

Subtotal 160 — — — 160
     

Independent Non-executive Directors

Chen Xue Dao 80 — — — 80

Chu, Howard Ho Hwa 80 — — — 80

Lee Man Yee, Maggie 80 — — — 80
     

Subtotal 240 — — — 240
     

Total 560 613 33 62 1,268
     

During the current and prior years, there were no amounts paid or payable by the Group to any of the directors 

as an inducement to join or upon joining the Group or as compensation for loss of office. There was no 

arrangement under which a director waived or agreed to waive any remuneration during the current and prior 

years.
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8 INDIVIDUALS WITH HIGHEST EMOLUMENTS

Of the five individuals with the highest emoluments, one (2012: one) is a director whose emoluments are 

disclosed in note 7. The aggregate of the emoluments in respect of the other four individuals with highest 

emoluments are as follows:

2013 2012

HK$’000 HK$’000   

Salaries and other emoluments 1,153 1,147

Contributions to defined contribution retirement plan 58 59

Bonuses 19 20
  

1,230 1,226
  

An analysis of the emoluments of the four individuals with the highest emoluments is within the following band:

2013 2012

Number of Number of

individuals individuals   

HK$Nil - HK$1,000,000 4 4
  

During the current and prior years, there were no amounts paid or payable by the Group to any of the highest 

paid individuals as an inducement to join or upon joining the Group or as compensation for loss of office. There 

was no arrangement under which a director waived or agreed to waive any remuneration during the current or 

prior years.

9 PROFIT ATTRIBUTABLE TO EQUITY SHAREHOLDERS OF THE COMPANY

The consolidated profit attributable to equity shareholders of the Company includes a profit of approximately 

HK$394,000 (2012: loss of approximately HK$1,145,000) which has been dealt with in the financial statements 

of the Company.
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10 EARNINGS PER SHARE

(a) Basic earnings per share

The calculation of basic earnings per share is based on the profit attributable to ordinary equity 

shareholders of the Company of approximately HK$10,081,000 (2012: approximately HK$22,130,000) 

and the weighted average of 1,037,500,000 (2012: 1,037,500,000) ordinary shares of the Company as 

follows:

Weighted average number of ordinary shares

2013 2012

Number of Number of

Note shares shares    

Issued ordinary shares at 1 January and 31 December 18(b) 1,037,500,000 1,037,500,000
  

Weighted average number of ordinary shares 

 at 1 January and 31 December 1,037,500,000 1,037,500,000
  

(b) Diluted earnings per share

There were no potential dilutive ordinary shares during the current and prior years. Therefore, diluted 

earnings per share are the same as the basic earnings per share.
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11 INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES

2013 2012

HK$’000 HK$’000   

Unlisted shares, at cost — —
  

At 31 December 2013, the Company has direct or indirect interests in the following subsidiaries, which 

are private companies or, if established/incorporated outside Hong Kong, have substantially the same 

characteristics as a Hong Kong private company. The amount of unlisted shares, at cost, is HK$16 (2012: 

HK$16).

The following list contains only the particulars of subsidiaries which principally affected the results, assets or 

liabilities of the Group. The class of shares held is ordinary unless otherwise stated.

Place and date Particulars of Proportion of

of incorporation/ issued and fully ownership interest

Name of company establishment paid up capital Direct Indirect Principal activity      

* Elitel Limited Cayman Islands

30 August 2001

2 shares of

US$1 each

100% — Provision of

telecommunications

services

* China-Hongkong

 Telecom Limited

Hong Kong

5 September 2001

100 shares of

HK$1 each

— 100% Provision of

telecommunications

services

* Directel

 Communications

 Limited

Hong Kong

20 April 1995

5,000,000 shares of

HK$1 each

— 100% Provision of

telecommunications

services

* KPMG are not the statutory auditors of these companies.

The several of write down of inventories made in prior years arose due to sales of these inventories in current 

year.
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12 PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

The Group

Furniture Facilities Office

and fixtures equipment equipment Total

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000     

Cost:

At 1 January 2012 6 16,186 341 16,533

Additions — 4,281 108 4,389
    

At 31 December 2012 6 20,467 449 20,922

Additions — 31 28 59
    

At 31 December 2013 6 20,498 477 20,981
    

Accumulated depreciation:

At 1 January 2012 6 13,825 271 14,102

Charge for the year — 812 39 851
    

At 31 December 2012 6 14,637 310 14,953

Charge for the year — 880 40 920
    

At 31 December 2013 6 15,517 350 15,873
    

Net book value:

At 31 December 2013 — 4,981 127 5,108
    

At 31 December 2012 — 5,830 139 5,969
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13 INVENTORIES

(a) Inventories in the balance sheet comprise:

The Group

2013 2012

HK$’000 HK$’000   

SIM cards 283 269

Recharge vouchers 31 34
  

314 303
  

(b) The analysis of the amount of inventories recognised as an expense and included in the profit or loss is 

as follows:

The Group

2013 2012

HK$’000 HK$’000   

Carrying amount of inventories sold 1,581 1,056

Reversal of write down of inventories (840) (7)
  

741 1,049
  

 The reversal of write down of inventories made in prior years arose due to sales of these inventories in 

current year.
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14 TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES

The Group The Company

2013 2012 2013 2012

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000     

Trade receivables

 – amounts due from third parties 30,318 39,478 — —

 less: allowance for doubtful debts

    (note 14(b)) (38) (104) — —
    

30,280 39,374 — —
    

Amounts due from subsidiaries — — 1,068 1,237
    

Other receivables and prepayments

 – other receivables 4,345 3,072 149 13

 – deposits and prepayments 1,704 4,026 369 370
    

6,049 7,098 518 383
    

36,329 46,472 1,586 1,620
    

Generally, provision of mobile phone services to the Group’s major customers, including major mobile network 

operators and their dealers, are made in an open account with credit terms up to 30 days after the date of 

invoice. Subject to negotiations, credit terms can be extended to two to four months for certain customers with 

well-established trading and payment records on a case-by-case basis. Provision of mobile phone services 

to the Group’s pre-paid users are made with payment in advance, whereas post-paid users are made in an 

open account with credit terms up to 12 days after the date of invoice. Payments for provision for telesales 

dealership services are made in bullet payments within one to five months after rendering of services. Further 

details on the Group’s credit policy are set out in note 19(a).

The amounts due from subsidiaries are unsecured, interest free and repayable on demand.
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14 TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES (Continued)

(a) Ageing analysis

Included in trade receivables are trade debtors (net of allowance for doubtful debts) with the following 

ageing analysis by billing date as of the balance sheet date:

The Group

2013 2012

HK$’000 HK$’000   

Within 1 month 1,603 5,011

Over 1 month but less than 3 months 4,504 9,361

Over 3 months but less than 6 months 5,843 7,590

Over 6 months but less than 1 year 5,976 6,825

Over 1 year 12,354 10,587
  

30,280 39,374
  

Included in trade receivables are trade debtors with the following ageing analysis by due date as of the 

balance sheet date:

The Group

2013 2012

HK$’000 HK$’000   

Current 1,603 5,011

Less than 1 month past due 2,138 4,906

1 to 3 months past due 5,405 8,537

More than 3 months but less than 12 months past due 9,687 11,766

More than 12 months past due 11,485 9,258
  

30,318 39,478

Less: allowance for doubtful debts (38) (104)
  

30,280 39,374
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14 TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES (Continued)

(b) Impairment of trade receivables

Impairment losses in respect of trade receivables are recorded using an allowance account unless the 

Group is satisfied that recovery of the amount is remote, in which case the impairment loss is written off 

against trade receivables directly (see note 2(g)(i)).

The movements in the allowance for doubtful debts during the current and prior years are as follows:

The Group

2013 2012

HK$’000 HK$’000   

At 1 January 104 90

Impairment loss recognised — 48

Uncollectible amounts written off — (34)

Reversal of write down of doubtful debts (66) —
  

At 31 December 38 104
  

At 31 December 2013, the Group’s trade debtors of approximately HK$38,000 (2012: approximately 

HK$104,000) were individually determined to be impaired. The individually impaired receivables related to 

invoices that were default in payment and management assessed that the receivables are not expected 

to be recovered. Consequently, specific allowances for doubtful debts of approximately HK$38,000 

(2012: approximately HK$104,000) were recognised. The Group does not hold any collateral over these 

balances.
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14 TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES (Continued)

(c) Trade receivables that are not impaired

The ageing analysis of trade receivables that are neither individually nor collectively considered to be 

impaired are as follows:

The Group

2013 2012

HK$’000 HK$’000   

Neither past due nor impaired 1,603 5,011
  

Less than 1 month past due 2,138 4,906

1 to 3 months past due 5,405 8,537

More than 3 months but less than 12 months past due 9,686 11,765

More than 12 months past due 11,448 9,155
  

28,677 34,363
  

30,280 39,374
  

Trade receivables that were neither past due nor impaired relate to customers for whom there was 

no recent history of default. Trade receivables that were past due but not impaired relate to a number 

of independent customers that have a good repayment track record with the Group. Based on past 

experience, management believes that no impairment allowance is necessary in respect of these 

balances as there has not been a significant change in credit quality and the balances are still considered 

fully recoverable. The Group does not hold any collateral over these balances.

In particular, the trade receivables as at 31 December 2013 included amounts due from a mobile network 

operator in China (“that MNO”) amounting to approximately HK$23,723,000, of which HK$8,659,000 

and HK$11,328,000 fell into “More than 3 months but less than 12 months past due” and “More than 

12 months past due”, respectively. The credit terms of 30 days were granted by the Group to that MNO 

as it is in line with the credit policy of the Group whilst the delay in settlement by that MNO renders the 

actual credit period longer than the contractual credit period, the Directors consider that (i) that MNO, 

being a subsidiary of a company which is listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange and the New 

York Stock Exchange, is a reputable company in China; (ii) the Group has established long term ongoing 

business relationship with that MNO; (iii) the Group has been able to receive amounts due from that 

MNO without any disputes or balances requiring to be written off; and (iv) the Group has been conducting 

constant and positive dialogue with that MNO in relation to the settlement of the outstanding balances. 

Taking into account the above, the Directors are confident that that MNO would fulfill its payment 

obligations and no impairment allowance is considered necessary as at 31 December 2013.
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15 CASH AT BANK AND ON HAND

The Group The Company

2013 2012 2013 2012

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000     

Cash and cash equivalents

 at end of the year

Current and savings accounts 20,749 59,268 11,742 13,730

Fixed deposits – maturity within

 three months at acquisition 31,479 49,578 11,418 49,578

Cash on hand 22 12 — —
    

Cash and cash equivalents in the

 consolidated cash flow statement 52,250 108,858 23,160 63,308

Fixed deposits – maturity over

 three months at acquisition 73,979 — 39,637 —
    

Cash at bank and on hand

 in the balance sheets 126,229 108,858 62,797 63,308
    

16 TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES

The Group The Company

2013 2012 2013 2012

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000     

Trade payables

 – amounts due to a related party 80 129 — —

 – amounts due to third parties 3,672 5,493 — —
    

3,752 5,622 — —
    

Other payables

 – Accrued charges and deposits 2,105 3,139 972 1,918

 – Deferred income 1,596 1,969 — —
    

3,701 5,108 972 1,918
    

7,453 10,730 972 1,918
    

The amounts due to a related party are unsecured, interest free and repayable on demand.
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16 TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES (Continued)

Included in trade and other payables are trade creditors with the following ageing analysis by transaction date 

as of the balance sheet date:

The Group

2013 2012

HK$’000 HK$’000   

Within 1 month 1,244 4,446

Over 1 month but less than 3 months 2,508 1,176
  

3,752 5,622
  

17 INCOME TAX IN THE BALANCE SHEETS

(a) Current taxation in the balance sheets represents:

The Group The Company

2013 2012 2013 2012

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000     

Provision for Hong Kong Profits

 Tax for the year 2,016 3,398 33 37

Provisional Profits Tax paid (3,410) (4,130) (49) (60)
    

(1,394) (732) (16) (23)
    

Reconciliation to the balance sheets:

The Group The Company

2013 2012 2013 2012

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000     

Income tax recoverable (1,394) (753) (16) (23)

Income tax payable — 21 — —
    

(1,394) (732) (16) (23)
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17 INCOME TAX IN THE BALANCE SHEETS (Continued)

(b) Deferred tax assets and liabilities recognised:

The components of deferred tax assets/(liabilities) recognised in the balance sheet and the movements 

during the current and prior years are as follows:

The Group

Depreciation

allowances in

excess of the

Unutilised related

tax losses depreciation Total

Deferred tax arising from: HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000    

At 1 January 2012 2,586 (249) 2,337

(Charged) to profit or loss (635) (684) (1,319)
   

At 31 December 2012 1,951 (933) 1,018

(Charged)/credited to profit or loss (366) 130 (236)
   

At 31 December 2013 1,585 (803) 782
   

Reconciliation to the balance sheet

The Group

2013 2012

HK$’000 HK$’000   

Net deferred tax assets 1,585 1,951

Net deferred tax liabilities (803) (933)
  

782 1,018
  

(c) Deferred tax asset not recognised

Deferred tax assets are recognised for tax losses carried forward to the extent that realisation of the 

related tax benefit through future taxable profit is probable. The Group did not recognise deferred tax 

asset in respect of loss amounting to approximately HK$1,804,000 (2012: Nil) that can be carried forward 

against future taxable profit. The tax loss does not expire under current tax legislation.
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18 CAPITAL, RESERVES AND DIVIDENDS

(a) Movements in components of equity

The reconciliation between the opening and closing balances of each component of the Group’s 

consolidated equity is set out in the consolidated statement of changes in equity. Details of the changes 

in the Company’s individual components of equity between the beginning and the end of the year are set 

out below.

Share Share Accumulated Total

The Company capital premium losses equity

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

Note 18(b) Note 18(c)(i)     

Balance at 1 January 2012 10,375 67,499 (13,696) 64,178

Change in equity for 2012:

Loss and total comprehensive

 income for the year — — (1,145) (1,145)
    

Balance at 31 December 2012

 and 1 January 2013 10,375 67,499 (14,841) 63,033

Change in equity for 2013:

Profit and total comprehensive

 income for the year — — 394 394
    

Balance at 31 December 2013 10,375 67,499 (14,447) 63,427
    

(b) Share capital

As at As at

31 December 2013 31 December 2012

Number Nominal Number Nominal

of shares value of shares value

Note HK$’000 HK$’000      

Authorised: (i) 4,000,000,000 40,000 4,000,000,000 40,000
    

Issued and fully paid:

At beginning and end of year (i), (ii)&(iii) 1,037,500,000 10,375 1,037,500,000 10,375
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18 CAPITAL, RESERVES AND DIVIDENDS (Continued)

(b) Share capital (Continued)

Notes:

(i) The Company was incorporated on 28 July 2009 with an authorised share capital of HK$50,000 divided into 5,000,000 

shares of HK$0.01 each, and 100 shares of HK$0.01 each were allotted and issued at par to New Everich Holdings 

Limited (“New Everich”).

 On 7 September 2009, the Company allotted and issued 100 shares of HK$0.01 each to New Everich pursuant to a 

share swap agreement entered into among the Company, Mr. Li Kin Shing, Ms. Kwok King Wa and Elitel Limited.

 By the written resolutions of the shareholders passed on 20 May 2010, the authorised share capital of the Company 

was increased by HK$39,950,000 by the creation of 3,995,000,000 shares of HK$0.01 each.

(ii) On 2 June 2010, 287,500,000 ordinary shares of HK$0.01 each were issued by way of placing at a price of HK$0.30 per 

share for cash consideration of HK$86,250,000 (the “Placing”). The excess of the placing price over the par value of the 

shares issued was credited to the share premium account. Part of the proceeds of HK$2,875,000, being the par value 

of the shares issued, was credited to the Company’s share capital account. The remaining proceeds of HK$83,375,000 

after set off by share issuance expenses of approximately HK$8,376,000 were credited to the share premium account.

(iii) On 2 June 2010, pursuant to the written resolutions of the shareholders passed on 20 May 2010, an amount of 

HK$7,499,998 standing to the credit of share premium account of the Company was capitalised by issue and allotment 

of 749,999,800 ordinary shares of HK$0.01 each credited as fully paid at par to the shareholders whose names 

appeared on the register of members of the Company as at the close of business of 20 May 2010 upon the Placing.

The holders of ordinary shares are entitled to receive dividends as declared from time to time and are entitled to one vote per 

share at meetings of the Company. All ordinary shares rank equally with regard to the Company’s residual assets.
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18 CAPITAL, RESERVES AND DIVIDENDS (Continued)

(c) Nature and purpose of reserves

The nature and purpose of reserves are set out below:

(i) Share premium

The share premium represents the difference between the par value of the shares of the Company 

and proceeds received from the issuance of the shares of the Company net of share issuing 

expenses. The application of the share premium account of the Company is governed by the 

Companies Law (Revised) of the Cayman Islands, under which the balance of share premium 

account of the Company can be distributed as dividends provided that immediately following the 

date on which dividend is proposed to be distributed, the Company would be in a position to pay off 

its debts as they fall due in the ordinary course of business.

(ii) Other reserve

Other reserve amounting to HK$15 (2012: HK$15) represents the difference between the nominal 

value of the shares alloted and issued by the Company to a subsidiary and the nominal value of the 

share capital of that subsidiary acquired by the Company in a group reorganisation which took place 

on 7 September 2009.

(d) Distributability of reserves

At 31 December 2013, the aggregate amount of reserves available for distribution to the equity 

shareholders of the Company was approximately HK$53,052,000 (2012: HK$52,658,000).

(e) Capital management

The Group’s primary objectives when managing capital are to safeguard the Group’s ability to continue 

as a going concern, so that it can continue to provide returns for shareholders and benefits for other 

stakeholders, by pricing products and services commensurate with the level of risk.

The Group actively and regularly reviews and manages its capital structure, monitors the return on 

capital, and makes adjustments to the capital structure in light of changes in economic conditions.

There were no changes in the Group’s approach to capital management during the current and prior 

years.

Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries are subject to externally imposed capital requirements.
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19 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR VALUES

Exposure to credit, liquidity and currency risks arises in the normal course of the Group’s business.

The Group’s exposure to these risks and the financial risk management policies and practices used by the 

Group to manage these risks are described below.

(a) Credit risk

The Group’s credit risk is primarily attributable to trade and other receivables. Management has a credit 

policy in place and the exposure to credit risk is monitored on an ongoing basis.

Credit evaluations are performed on all customers requiring credit over a certain amount. These 

evaluations focus on the customer’s past history of making payments when due and current ability to pay, 

and take into account information specific to the customer. Normally, the Group does not obtain collateral 

from customers.

The Group’s exposure to credit risk is influenced mainly by the individual characteristics of each customer 

rather than the industry or country in which the customers operate and therefore significant concentrations 

of credit risk primarily arise when the Group has significant exposure to individual customers. At the 

balance sheet date, 78% (2012: 59%) and 99% (2012: 98%) of the total trade and other receivables was 

due from the Group’s largest debtor and the five largest debtors respectively.

The maximum exposure to credit risk is represented by the carrying amount of each financial asset in the 

consolidated balance sheet. The Group does not provide any guarantees which would expose the Group 

to credit risk.

Further quantitative disclosures in respect of the Group’s exposure to credit risk arising from trade and 

other receivables are set out in note 14.

(b) Liquidity risk

The Group’s policy is to regularly monitor its liquidity requirements to ensure that it maintains sufficient 

reserves of cash to meet its liquidity requirements in the short and longer term.

All financial liabilities as disclosed in the balance sheets are required to be settled within one year or on 

demand and the total contractual undiscounted cash flow of these financial liabilities equal their carrying 

amounts in the balance sheets.
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19 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR VALUES (Continued)

(c) Currency risk

The Group is exposed to currency risk primarily through sales and purchases which give rise to 

receivables, payables and cash balances that are denominated in a foreign currency, i.e. a currency 

other than the functional currency of the operations to which the transactions relate. The currencies giving 

rise to this risk are primarily Renminbi (“RMB”) and United States dollars (“US$”). The Group currently 

does not have hedging policy in respect of the foreign currency risk. However, management monitors the 

related foreign currency risk exposure closely and will consider hedging significant foreign currency risk 

exposure should the need arise.

The following table details the Group’s exposure at the balance sheet date to currency risk arising from 

recognised assets or liabilities denominated in a currency other than the functional currency of the entity 

to which they relate. For presentation purposes, the amounts of the exposure are shown in Hong Kong 

dollars (“HK$”), translated using the spot rate at the year end date.

The Group Exposures to foreign currencies

(expressed in HK$’000)

2013 2012

US$ RMB US$ RMB     

Trade and other receivables — 28,021 — 26,812

Cash at bank and on hand 19 40,750 22 —

Trade and other payables (124) — (67) —
    

Net exposures (105) 68,771 (45) 26,812
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19 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR VALUES (Continued)

(c) Currency risk (Continued)

 Sensitivity analysis

The following table indicates the instantaneous change in the Group’s profit after tax (and retained profits) 

and other components of consolidated equity that would arise if foreign exchange rates to which the 

Group has significant exposure at the balance sheet date had changed at that date, assuming all other 

risk variables remained constant. In this respect, it is assumed that the pegged rate between the Hong 

Kong dollar and the United States dollar would be materially unaffected by any changes in movement in 

value of the United States dollar against other currencies.

2013 2012

Increase/ Effect Increase/ Effect

(decrease) on profit (decrease) on profit

in foreign after tax in foreign after tax

exchange and retained exchange and retained

rates profits rates profit

HK$’000 HK$’000     

RMB 5% 2,872 5% 1,119

(5%) (2,872) (5%) (1,119)
    

The sensitivity analysis assumes that the changes in foreign exchange rates had been applied to re- 

measure those financial instruments held by the Group which expose the Group to foreign currency risk 

at the balance sheet date. The analysis is performed on the same basis for 2012.

(d) Fair values

The fair values of the Group’s financial instruments are not materially different from their carrying 

amounts. Fair value estimates are made at a specific point in time and are based on relevant market 

information and information about the financial assets and liabilities. These estimates are subjective in 

nature, involve uncertainties and matters of significant judgement and therefore cannot be determined 

with precision. Changes in assumptions could significantly affect the estimates.

(e) Offsetting of financial instruments

Financial assets and liabilities are offset and the net amount reported in the balance sheet when the 

Group currently has a legally enforceable right to set-off the recognised amounts and there is an intention 

to settle on a net basis or realise the assets and settle the liability simultaneously. The Group enters into 

a long-term commercial agreement with a mobile network operator in China which includes provision 

allowing net settlement of payments in the normal course of business. The following table presents the 

recognised financial instruments that are offset as at 31 December 2013 and 2012.
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19 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR VALUES (Continued)

(e) Offsetting of financial instruments (Continued)

 The Group

Amounts offset

Gross Gross liabilities Net amounts

assets offset presented

Financial assets HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000    

31 December 2013

Trade receivables 39,628 (9,348) 30,280

31 December 2012

Trade receivables 47,066 (7,692) 39,374

Gross Gross assets Net amounts

liabilities offset presented

Financial liabilities HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000    

31 December 2013

Trade payables 13,100 (9,348) 3,752

31 December 2012

Trade payables 13,314 (7,692) 5,622

There are no other enforceable netting arrangements or other similar agreements of the Group for both 

years other than the commercial agreement mentioned above.
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20 COMMITMENTS

(a) Capital commitments outstanding at 31 December 2013 not provided for in the financial statements were 

as follows:

The Group

2013 2012

HK$’000 HK$’000   

Contracted for 735 1,064
  

(b) At 31 December 2013, the total future minimum lease payments under non-cancellable operating leases 

are payable as follows:

The Group

2013 2012

Transmission Transmission

Properties lines Properties lines

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000     

Within 1 year 528 604 528 868

After 1 year but within 5 years — 90 528 278
    

528 694 1,056 1,146
    

The Group is the lessee in respect of a number of properties and transmission lines held under operating 

lease agreements. The leases typically run for an initial period of one to three years (2012: one to three 

years), with an option to renew the lease when all terms are renegotiated. None of the leases includes 

contingent rentals.
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21 MATERIAL RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

(a) Relationship between the Group and related parties

(i) Controlling shareholders of the Group

‧ Li Kin Shing

‧ Kwok King Wa

(ii) Subject to common control of the controlling shareholders

‧ China Elite Information Technology Ltd.

‧ Directel Limited

‧ Fastary Limited

‧ International Elite Ltd.

‧ International Elite Limited – Macao Commercial Offshore

‧ PacificNet Communications Limited – Macao Commercial Offshore

‧ Sunward Telecom Limited (incorporated in the BVI)

‧ Sunward Telecom Limited (incorporated in the Cayman Islands)

‧ Talent Group (International) Limited

‧ Talent Information Engineering Co. Limited

‧ Target Link Enterprises Limited

‧ Xiamen Elite Electric Co., Ltd.
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21 MATERIAL RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (Continued)

(b) Transactions

Particulars of significant related party transactions entered into by the Group during the current year are 

as follows:

2013 2012

Related parties Note HK$’000 HK$’000    

China Elite Information Technology Ltd.

 – Data processing and billing management* (i) 360 360

Talent Information Engineering Co., Ltd.

 – Rental of properties* (ii) 528 528

International Elite Limited - Macao

 Commercial Offshore

 – Built-in secretarial and customer hotline services* (i) 574 666

 – Telesales services* (i) 543 623

 – Development and maintenance of Company’s website* (i) 60 —
  

* Continuing connected transactions pursuant to Chapter 20 of the GEM Listing Rules. The disclosures required by 

Chapter 20 of the GEM Listing Rules are provided in section “Continuing Connected Transactions” of the Directors’ 

Report.

Notes:

(i) Services rendered by related parties related to telesales services, customer hotline services, built-in-secretarial 

services, development and maintenance of Company’s website and data processing and billing management services .

(ii) The Group has leased certain properties from a related party under operating leases at an aggregate monthly rental of 

HK$44,000 for the period from 1 January 2012 to 31 December 2014.

The directors are of the opinion that the above transactions with related parties were conducted on terms 

and conditions mutually agreed in the ordinary course of the Group’s business.
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21 MATERIAL RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (Continued)

(c) Balance with a related party

At 31 December 2013, the Group had the following balance with a related party:

2013 2012

HK$’000 HK$’000   

Amount due to a related party

 – trade 80 129
  

Notes: The amount due to a related party is unsecured, interest free and repayable on demand and is included in “Trade and 

other payables” (note 16).

(d) Key management personnel remuneration

Remuneration for key management personnel of the Group, including amounts paid to the Group’s 

directors as disclosed in note 7 and certain of the individuals with highest emoluments as disclosed in 

note 8, are as follows:

2013 2012

HK$’000 HK$’000   

Short-term employee benefits 2,051 2,039

Contributions to defined contribution retirement plan 73 73
  

2,124 2,112
  

Total remuneration is included in “staff costs” (note 5(a)).

22 CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

Elitel Limited, a wholly owned subsidiary of the Company, has previously failed to register as a non-Hong 

Kong company within the prescribed time limit under Part XI of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, that 

is, within one month of establishment of the place of business in Hong Kong in November 2002. Elitel Limited 

has subsequently notified the Companies Registry regarding such matter and rectified the late registration in 

October 2009.

As at the date of issue of these financial statements, there is a possibility that the Companies Registry may 

still take action against Elitel Limited in relation to the late registration and that Elitel Limited may be subject 

to a penalty in this respect, though no action has been taken by the Companies Registry against Elitel Limited 

to date. During the year ended 31 December 2013, no action has been taken against the Group by the 

Companies Registry in respect of this matter.

The Group did not recognise any provision in respect of the abovementioned issue as the amount of the 

obligation cannot be measured with sufficient reliability.
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23 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND JUDGEMENTS

Estimates and judgements are continually evaluated and are based on historical experience and other factors, 

including expectations of future events that are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances.

The selection of critical accounting policies, the judgements and other uncertainties affecting application of 

those policies and the sensitivity of reported results to changes in conditions and assumptions are factors to 

be considered when reviewing the financial statements. The following principal accounting policies involve the 

most significant judgements and estimates used in the preparation of the financial statements.

(a) Depreciation

Property, plant and equipment are depreciated on a straight-line basis over the estimated useful lives. 

The Group reviews annually the useful life of an asset. The depreciation expense for future periods is 

adjusted if there are significant changes from previous estimation.

(b) Impairments

In considering the impairment loss that may be required for certain property, plant and equipment of the 

Group, recoverable amount of these assets needs to be determined. The recoverable amount is the 

greater of the fair value less costs of disposal and the value in use. It is difficult to precisely estimate 

selling price because quoted market prices for these assets may not be readily available. In determining 

the value in use, expected cash flows generated by the asset are discounted to their present value, 

which requires significant judgement relating to items such as level of turnover and amount of operating 

costs. The Group uses all readily available information in determining an amount that is a reasonable 

approximation of recoverable amount, including estimates based on reasonable and supportable 

assumptions and projections of items such as turnover and operating costs.

Impairment loss for bad and doubtful debts is assessed and provided based on the directors’ regular 

review of ageing analysis and evaluation of collectability. A considerable level of judgement is exercised 

by the directors when assessing the credit worthiness and past collection history of each individual 

customer.

An increase or decrease in the above impairment loss would affect the net profit in future years.

(c) Recognition of deferred tax assets

Deferred tax assets are recognised in respect of unused tax losses and deductible temporary differences 

and can only be recognised to the extent that it is probable that future taxable profits will be available 

against which the unused tax losses and deductible temporary differences can be utilised. Management’s 

judgement is required to assess the probability of future taxable profits. Management’s assessment is 

constantly reviewed and additional deferred tax assets are recognised if it becomes probable that future 

taxable profits will allow the deferred tax assets to be recovered.
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24 IMMEDIATE AND ULTIMATE CONTROLLING PARTIES

At 31 December 2013, the directors consider the immediate parent and ultimate controlling parties of the 

Group to be New Everich Holdings Limited and the controlling shareholders as mentioned in note 21(a)(i), 

respectively.

25 POSSIBLE IMPACT OF AMENDMENTS, NEW STANDARDS AND INTERPRETATIONS ISSUED 
BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2013

Up to the date of issue of these financial statements, the IASB has issued a number of amendments and new 

standards which are not yet effective for the year ended 31 December 2013 and which have not been adopted 

in these financial statements. These include the following which may be relevant to the Group.

Effective for

accounting

periods

beginning

on or after  

Amendments to IAS 32, Financial instruments: Presentation 1 January 2014

 – Offsetting financial assets and financial liabilities

IFRS 9, Financial instruments 1 January 2015

The Group is in the process of making an assessment of what the impact of these amendments is expected 

to be in the period of initial application. So far it has concluded that the adoption of them is unlikely to have a 

significant impact on the Group’s results of operations and financial position.
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(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

For the years ended 31 December

2013 2012 2011 2010 2009

$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000      

Results

Turnover 50,882 71,780 72,270 68,766 51,875

Cost of sales (25,106) (29,604) (28,415) (27,683) (25,594)
     

Gross profit 25,776 42,176 43,855 41,083 26,281

Other income 43 44 29 698 2

Administrative expenses (14,489) (15,760) (18,311) (17,617) (18,020)
     

Profit from operations 11,330 26,460 25,573 24,164 8,263

Finance income 985 278 1,922 1,172 2,786
     

Profit before taxation 12,315 26,738 27,495 25,336 11,049

Income tax (2,234) (4,608) (4,477) (4,523) (910)
     

Profit for the year attributable

 to equity shareholders

 of the Company 10,081 22,130 23,018 20,813 10,139
     

At 31 December

2013 2012 2011 2010 2009

$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000      

Assets and Liabilities

Total assets 170,959 164,306 141,358 123,100 31,903

Total liabilities (8,256) (11,684) (10,866) (10,438) (17,928)
     

Total equity 162,703 152,622 130,492 112,662 13,975
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